

On diffeologies for power sets and measures Alireza Ahmadi, Jean-Pierre Magnot

▶ To cite this version:

Alireza Ahmadi, Jean-Pierre Magnot. On diffeologies for power sets and measures. 2023. hal-04038676

HAL Id: hal-04038676 https://hal.science/hal-04038676

Preprint submitted on 21 Mar 2023

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution - NonCommercial - NoDerivatives 4.0 International License

ON DIFFEOLOGIES FOR POWER SETS AND MEASURES

ALIREZA AHMADI AND JEAN-PIERRE MAGNOT

ABSTRACT. We consider a differential geometric setting on power sets and Borel algebras. Our chosen framework is based on diffeologies, and we make a link between the various diffeological structures that we propose, having in mind set-valued maps, relations, set-valued gradients, differentiable measures, and shape analysis. This work intends to establish rigorous properties on sample diffeologies that seem of interest to us.

Keywords: diffeology, power sets, set-valued maps, differentiable measures, shape spaces.

MSC (2020): 58B10, 28B20, 47H04

Contents

Introduction	2
1. Preliminaries	4
1.1. On diffeologies	4
1.2. Diffeological submersions, immersions, and étale maps	6
1.3. On Frölicher spaces	7
1.4. The tangent space of interest for us	9
2. The weak power set diffeology	11
3. The union power set diffeology	12
3.1. Smooth set-valued mappings	13
3.2. Higher order union power spaces	16
3.3. Smooth selection problem	17
3.4. Smooth relations and power set diffeologies	19
3.5. Smooth family of plots and the union power set diffeology	20
4. The strong power set diffeology	21
5. Projectable diffeologies on power sets	22
5.1. The locally projectable parametrizations on $\mathfrak{P}^{\star}(X)$	22
5.2. The globally projectable parametrizations on $\mathfrak{P}(X)$	23
6. Diffeologies on Borel algebras and measures	24
6.1. Boolean diffeologies on a Boolean algebra	24
6.2. Diffeologies on a Borel algebra	26
6.3. Hadamard and Fomin differentiability on a vector space: the	
diffeological viewpoint	27
6.4. Diffeology on spaces of measures	28
7. Set-valued differentials	29
8. Diffeologies and shapes	30
References	31

INTRODUCTION

From analysis on shape spaces, smoothness of measures and on spaces of measures to set-valued analysis, the question of differentiability on the power set of a smooth space¹ remains a difficult problem for which pragmatic approaches are often used. These techniques have their applications in problems of great importance. For example, many real world problems can be reformulated as shape optimization problems constrained by partial differential equations (PDE). A non-exhaustive list of examples includes: inverse modeling of skin structures [36], electrochemical machining [20], image restoration and segmentation [21], aerodynamic shape optimisation [40] and optimization of interfaces in transmission problems [17, 38]. Textbooks on the subjects are, for example, [12, 41]. Often, the shape space is modelled on a vector space, on which one considers landmark positions [10, 23] in most simple cases. But more refined frameworks, such as morphologies of images [14], multiphase objects [47], characterictic functions of measurable sets [49], boundary contours of objects [16, 27, 48] along the lines of [31], plane curves [34, 35] and surfaces in higher dimensional manifolds [4, 24, 33], are also considered in various approaches.

From another point of view, and with a field of applications as large as differentiability of shapes, differentiability of measures on the domain defined by a Borel algebra, based on and extending the differentiation of functions through their representation via Radon measures, various ways to define differentiability of measures have been defined (see, e.g., [5]). In the same way, differential geometric techniques are crucial in the optimization of set-valued functions. Although there are several notions of smoothness for set-valued maps of Euclidean spaces with different approaches, the smoothness of set-valued maps has not been developed on more general smooth spaces such as manifolds.

All these notions are centered on the power set of a smooth space equipped with a "nice" and "suitable" differential geometric setting that induces, in various ways, a differentiation-like procedure on the power set in question. This differentiation remains in applications an important step for the implementation of the resolution of equations.

The aim of the present work is to provide a suitable systematic framework for differentiation on the power set of a space, in which the flavor of rigor and adeptness is comforting enough to enable one to think about a general theory adapted to applied frameworks. For this purpose, we work in the framework of diffeology, which was established by J.-M. Souriau [42] in the 1980s and has been developed by P. Iglesias-Zemmour and others in various directions. Diffeological spaces form a category for differential calculus and differential geometry, actually one of the widest categories in which the calculus of variations is well-defined, and for which the technical problems remain reasonable. The reader can refer to the book [22] for a comprehensive introduction to diffeologies, while Frölicher spaces [15, 25] form an interesting subcategory of the category of diffeological spaces. Diffeological spaces [22, 42] as well as Frölicher spaces [15, 25] define two categories of generalized frameworks for differential geometry, where the presence of atlases is not needed, and the necessary properties for the classical calculus of variations are fulfilled.

¹By the power set of a space, we mean the set of all subsets of that space.

The contents of the paper are as follows. We recall basics on diffeologies and Frölicher spaces, at least those properties that are crucial to understanding the framework we develop for power sets in Section 1. Diffeologies on a set X are based on the notion of plots, that is, maps with images in X which are decided to be smooth. The set of such smooth maps that agree with some minimal properties is called a diffeology on X.

After that, we provide and study in detail samples of diffeologies on power sets with desirable properties in Sections 2, 3 and 4. These are new refinements of the power set diffeology described in Iglesias-Zemmour's book [22] on the power set $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ of a diffeological space X, which we call the weak, the union, and the strong power set diffeologies, and are derived from the diffeological space X with some certain properties. Comparing these diffeologies, we get the following inclusions:

Strong diffeology \hookrightarrow Union diffeology \hookrightarrow Weak diffeology

We discuss their geometrical properties, especially we prove that a diffeological space is "strongly" embedded into its power set endowed with either the union or the strong power set diffeologies.

Having diffeological structures on power sets, we are easily able to treat smooth set-valued maps as usual smooth maps in the diffeological setting. From a topological perspective, we show that smooth set-valued maps are lower semi-continuous with respect to the D-topology. Similar to continuous selection problems (see, e.g., [32]), we consider the smooth versions of these problems and explore their relationships with the smoothness of a set-valued map. In particular, on a manifold, the smoothness of a set-valued map is equivalent to solving the smooth selection problem over an open cover. In the case of Euclidean spaces, this result is compatible with [43, Theorem 2.2.1]. It is well-known that there is a one-to-one correspondence between set-valued maps and relations. We suggest notions of smooth relations as those whose corresponding set-valued maps are smooth. Moreover, we consider the space of smooth relations between diffeological spaces and compare the induced diffeologies on it.

In Section 5, we describe so-called projectable diffeologies on power sets, developed in the same spirit as the Diff-diffeology defined in [30], that is, the plots are derived from smooth families of functions acting on X. We observe that:

Locally projectable diffeology \hookrightarrow Union diffeology

In these various definitions, which may appear as natural from one viewpoint or another, we do not find so easily diffeologies for which Boolean operations are smooth (we call them Boolean diffeologies). In Section 6.1, we prove the existence of diffeologies on the power set $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ for which the Boolean operations are smooth. They will be discussed in more detailed examples in other upcoming sections.

We also show that it is possible to fit with some existing frameworks for differentiation in our setting. In Sections 6.2 and 6.3, we analyze how diffeologies on a Borel algebra may encode differentiability, or smoothness of measures in it. We first analyze in Section 6.2 the existence of a Boolean diffeology, which we show to be always defined, but also not-so natural in the concrete example of measures on a smooth manifold since we prove (Remark 6.9) that a natural intuitive diffeology is not a priori Boolean in this framework. Then, we show that we can recover Fomin differentiability from the viewpoint of a "directional" diffeology in Section 6.3. In Section 6.4, we define a diffeology on the space of measures. This example is motivated by the counter-example of Remark 6.9 of Section 6.2, and requires more deep and more complete investigations that must be developed elsewhere. This diffeology on measures defined in Section 6.4 is different from the diffeology defined in [30], and not only on the space of probabilities but on the full space of (positive), non necessarily finite, measures.

We finish with a possible framework for set-valued maps, and show how Hadamard derivatives of functionals on shape analysis fit with a directional derivative of the globally projectable diffeology in Sections 7 and 8.

1. Preliminaries

1.1. On diffeologies. We review here the basics of the theory of diffeological spaces, especially, their definitions, categorical properties, as well as their induced topology. The main idea of diffeologies (and Frölicher spaces defined shortly after) is to replace the atlas of a classical manifold with other intrinsic objects that enable to define smoothness of mappings in a safe way, considering manifolds as a restricted class of examples. Many such settings have been developed independently [44]. We choose these two settings because they carry nice properties such as cartesian closedness, the necessary fundamental properties of, e.g., calculus of variations, and also because they are very easy to use in a differential geometric way of thinking. The fundamental idea of these two settings is based on defining families of smooth maps, with mild conditions on them which ensure technical features of interest.

Definition 1.1 (Diffeology). Let X be a set. A parametrization in X is a map of sets $P: U \to X$, where U is an open subset of Euclidean space (no fixed dimension). A diffeology \mathcal{D} on X is a set of parametrizations in X satisfying the following three conditions:

- (1) (Covering) For every $x \in X$ and every non-negative integer n, the constant map $P \colon \mathbb{R}^n \to \{x\} \subset X$ is in \mathcal{D} .
- (2) (Locality) Let $P: U \to X$ be a parametrization such that for every $r \in U$ there exists an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r satisfying $P|_V \in \mathcal{D}$. Then $P \in \mathcal{D}$.
- (3) (Smooth Compatibility) Let $(P: U \to X) \in \mathcal{D}$. Then for every n, every open subset $V \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, and every smooth map $F: V \to U$, we have $P \circ F \in \mathcal{D}$.

A set X equipped with a diffeology \mathcal{D} is called a **diffeological space**, and is denoted by (X, \mathcal{D}) . When the diffeology is understood, we will drop the symbol \mathcal{D} . The parametrizations $P \in \mathcal{D}$ are called **plots** in the space X.

Definition 1.2. A collection \mathcal{D} of parametrizations in a set X satisfying the covering and smooth compatibility conditions is said to be a **prediffeology** on X. If \mathcal{D} fulfills the covering condition, it is a **parametrized cover** of X.

Definition 1.3. Let X be any set, and let \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{D}' be diffeologies on X. If $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathcal{D}'$, then \mathcal{D} is **finer** that \mathcal{D}' , or equivalently, \mathcal{D}' is **coarser** that \mathcal{D} .

Example 1.4. Let X be any set. The set of the locally constant parametrizations in X is a diffeology on X called the **discrete diffeology**. The set of all parametrizations in a set X is a diffeology on X called the **indiscrete** or **coarse diffeology**. It is trivial that the discrete diffeology is the finest diffeology and the indiscrete diffeology is the coarsest diffeology on X, and any other diffeology on X is between them.

Definition 1.5. A family $\{P_i : U_i \to X\}_{i \in J}$ of parametrizations defined on open subsets of \mathbb{R}^n is compatible if $P_i|_{U_i \cap U_j} = P_j|_{U_i \cap U_j}$, for all $i, j \in J$. For such a family, the parametrization $P : \bigcup_{i \in J} U_i \to X$ given by $P(r) = P_i(r)$ for $r \in U_i$, is said to be the supremum of the family.

Remark 1.6. The locality condition of diffeology in Definition 1.1 is equivalent to saying that the supremum of any compatible family of plots is itself a plot.

Definition 1.7. Let X be a set and let C be a set of parametrizations in X satisfying the covering condition in Definition 1.1. The **diffeology generated** by C, denoted by $\langle C \rangle$, is the set of parametrizations P that are the supremum of a compatible family $\{P_i\}_{i \in J}$ of parametrizations in X in the form $P_i = Q_i \circ F_i$, where Q_i is an element of C and F is a smooth map between domains. For a diffeological space (X, D), a **covering generating family** is a parametrized cover C of X generating the diffeology of the space, i.e., $\langle C \rangle = D$. Denote by $\mathsf{CGF}(X)$ the collection of all covering generating families of the space X.

Definition 1.8. The dimension dim(X) of a diffeological space X is a nonnegative integer that is defined by

$$\dim(X) = \inf_{\mathcal{G} \in \mathsf{CGF}(X)} \dim(\mathcal{G}),$$

where

$$\dim(\mathcal{G}) = \sup_{P \in \mathcal{G}} \dim(\operatorname{dom}(P))$$

for each $\mathcal{G} \in \mathsf{CGF}(X)$. If X has no covering generating family with finite dimension, we write $\dim(X) = \infty$.

Definition 1.9 (Diffeologically Smooth Maps). Let (X, \mathcal{D}_X) and (Y, \mathcal{D}_Y) be two diffeological spaces, and let $F: X \to Y$ be a map. Then we say that F is diffeologically smooth if for any plot $P \in \mathcal{D}_X$,

$$F \circ P \in \mathcal{D}_Y.$$

Any smooth map with a smooth inverse is called a diffeomorphisms.

Diffeological spaces with diffeologically smooth maps form a category. This category is complete and co-complete, and forms a quasi-topos (see [3]).

Definition 1.10. Let X and Y be diffeological spaces. The **functional diffeology** on the set $C^{\infty}(X,Y)$ of all smooth maps from X to Y is given by the following condition: A parametrization $Q : V \to C^{\infty}(X,Y)$ is a plot for the functional diffeology if and only if for every plot $P : U \to X$, the parametrization $Q \odot P :$ $V \times U \to Y$ with $(Q \odot P)(r, s) = Q(r)(P(s))$ is a plot in Y.

Indeed, the functional diffeology on $C^{\infty}(X, Y)$ is the coarsest diffeology for which $ev: C^{\infty}(X, Y) \times X \to Y$ defined by ev(f, x) to f(x) is smooth.

Definition 1.11. [42, 22] Let (X', \mathcal{D}) be a diffeological space, and let X be a set. Let $f: X \to X'$ be a map. We define $f^*(\mathcal{D})$ the **pull-back diffeology** as

$$^{*}(\mathcal{D}) = \{P : U \to X \mid f \circ P \in \mathcal{D}\}$$

Definition 1.12. Let (X, \mathcal{D}_X) and (Y, \mathcal{D}_Y) be two diffeological spaces. An injective map $f: X \to Y$ is called an *induction* if $\mathcal{D}_Y = f^*(\mathcal{D}_X)$.

Definition 1.13. [42, 22] Let (X, D) be a diffeological space, and let X' be a set. Let $f : X \to X'$ be a map. We define $f_*(D)$ the **push-forward diffeology** as $\langle f \circ D \rangle$, which is the coarsest diffology on X' containing $f \circ D = \{f \circ P \mid P \in D\}$. **Definition 1.14.** Let (X, \mathcal{D}_X) and (Y, \mathcal{D}_Y) be two diffeological spaces. A map $f: X \to Y$ is called a subduction if $\mathcal{D}_Y = f_*(\mathcal{D}_X)$.

In particular, we have the following constructions.

Definition 1.15 (Product Diffeology). Let $\{(X_i, \mathcal{D}_i)\}_{i \in I}$ be a family of diffeological spaces. Then the **product diffeology** \mathcal{D} on $X = \prod_{i \in I} X_i$ contains a parametrization $P: U \to X$ as a plot if for every $i \in I$, the map $\pi_i \circ P$ is in \mathcal{D}_i . Here, π_i is the canonical projection map $X \to X_i$.

In other words, in last definition, $\mathcal{D} = \bigcap_{i \in I} \pi_i^*(\mathcal{D}_i)$ and each π_i is a subduction.

Definition 1.16 (Subset Diffeology). Let (X, \mathcal{D}) be a diffeological space, and let $Y \subset X$. Then Y comes equipped with the **subset diffeology**, which is the set of all plots in \mathcal{D} with image in Y.

Definition 1.17. Every diffeological space X has a natural topology called the D-topology in which a subset of X is D-open if its preimage by any plot is open.

Any smooth map is D-continuous, that is, continuous with respect to the D-topology [22, §2.9].

Notation 1.18. We recall that $\mathbb{N}^* = \{n \in \mathbb{N} \mid n \neq 0\}$ and that $\forall m \in \mathbb{N}^*, \mathbb{N}_m = \{1, ..., m\} \subset \mathbb{N}$.

If M is a smooth manifolds, finite or infinite dimensional, modelled on a complete locally convex topological vector space, we define the **nebulae diffeology**

 $\mathcal{D}_{\infty}(M) = \left\{ P \in C^{\infty}(U, M) \text{ (in the usual sense) } | U \text{ is open in } \mathbb{R}^d, d \in \mathbb{N}^* \right\}.$

1.2. **Diffeological submersions, immersions, and étale maps.** We here briefly recall the needed definitions and results without proofs from [1].

Definition 1.19. A (not necessarily surjective) smooth map $f : X \to Y$ between diffeological spaces is a **weak subduction** if for any plot $P : U \to Y$ and $r_0 \in U$, if $P(r_0) \in f(X)$, then there exists at least one local lift plot $L : V \to X$ defined on an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 with $f \circ L = P|_V$. In this situation, f(X) is a D-open subset of Y.

Definition 1.20. We call a smooth map $f: X \to Y$ between diffeological spaces a submersion if for each x_0 in X, there exists a smooth local section $\sigma: O \to X$ of f passing through x_0 defined on a D-open subset $O \subseteq Y$ such that $f \circ \sigma(y) = y$ for all $y \in O$. A smooth map $f: X \to Y$ is said to be a diffeological submersion if the pullback of f by every plot in Y is a submersion. A local subduction is a surjective diffeological submersion.

Definition 1.21. A smooth map $f : X \to Y$ between diffeological spaces is an *immersion* if for each x_0 in X, there exist a D-open neighborhood $O \subseteq X$ of the point x_0 , a D-open neighborhood $O' \subseteq Y$ of the set f(O), and a smooth map $\rho : O' \to X$ such that $\rho \circ f(x) = x$ for all $x \in O$. A smooth map $f : X \to Y$ is a diffeological immersion if for any plot $P : U \to Y$ in Y, for each (r_0, x_0) in P^*X , there exist a D-open neighborhood O of (r_0, x_0) in P^*X , an open neighborhood $V \subseteq U$ of $P^*f(O)$ and a smooth map $\rho : V \to U \times X$ such that $\rho \circ P^*f(r, x) = (r, x)$

for all $(r, x) \in O$.



Proposition 1.22. [1] Suppose we are given a commutative diagram of smooth maps as the following:



If g is a diffeological immersion, then f is a diffeological immersion. In particular, if $f: X \to (Y, \mathcal{D})$ is a diffeological immersion, and $id: (Y, \mathcal{D}') \to (Y, \mathcal{D})$ is smooth, then $f: X \to (Y, \mathcal{D}')$ is a diffeological immersion.

Definition 1.23. A map $f: X \to Y$ between diffeological spaces is called a strong embedding if it is an induction, a diffeological immersion, and a D-embedding (i.e., a topological embedding with respect to the D-topology).

Definition 1.24. A map $f: X \to Y$ between diffeological spaces is **étale** if for every x in X, there are D-open neighborhoods $O \subseteq X$ and $V \subseteq Y$ of x and f(x), respectively, such that $f|_O: O \to O'$ is a diffeomorphism. A smooth map $f: X \to Y$ is a **diffeological étale map** if the pullback P^*f by every plot P in X is étale.

1.3. On Frölicher spaces.

Definition 1.25. • A Frölicher space is a triple $(X, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{C})$ such that

- \mathcal{C} is a set of paths $\mathbb{R} \to X$,

- A function $f: X \to \mathbb{R}$ is in \mathcal{F} if and only if for any $c \in \mathcal{C}$, $f \circ c \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$; - A path $c: \mathbb{R} \to X$ is in \mathcal{C} (i.e. is a **contour**) if and only if for any $f \in \mathcal{F}$, $f \circ c \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$.

• Let $(X, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{C})$ and $(X', \mathcal{F}', \mathcal{C}')$ be two Frölicher spaces, a map $f : X \to X'$ is **differentiable** (=smooth) if and only if one of the following equivalent conditions is fulfilled:

- $\mathcal{F}' \circ f \circ \mathcal{C} \subset C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$
- $f \circ \mathcal{C} \subset \mathcal{C}'$
- $\mathcal{F}' \circ f \subset \mathcal{F}$

Any family of maps \mathcal{F}_g from X to \mathbb{R} generate a Frölicher structure $(X, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{C})$, setting [25]:

- $\mathcal{C} = \{ c : \mathbb{R} \to X \text{ such that } \mathcal{F}_g \circ c \subset C^\infty(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}) \}$

- $\mathcal{F} = \{ f : X \to \mathbb{R} \text{ such that } f \circ \mathcal{C} \subset C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}) \}.$

One easily see that $\mathcal{F}_g \subset \mathcal{F}$. This notion will be useful in the sequel to describe in a simple way a Frölicher structure. A Frölicher space carries a natural topology, which is the pull-back topology of \mathbb{R} via \mathcal{F} . In the case of a finite dimensional differentiable manifold, the underlying topology of the Frölicher structure is the same as the manifold topology. In the infinite dimensional case, these two topologies differ very often.

Let us now compare Frölicher spaces with diffeological spaces, with the following diffeology $\mathcal{D}_{\infty}(\mathcal{F})$ called "nebulae": Let U be an open subset of a Euclidean space;

$$\mathcal{D}_{\infty}(\mathcal{F})_{U} = \prod_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \{ f : U \to X; \, \mathcal{F} \circ f \subset C^{\infty}(U, \mathbb{R}) \quad (\text{in the usual sense}) \}$$

and

$$\mathcal{D}_{\infty}(\mathcal{F}) = \bigcup_{U} \mathcal{D}_{\infty}(\mathcal{F})_{U},$$

where the latter union is extended over all open sets $U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ for $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$. With this construction, we get a natural diffeology when X is a Frölicher space. In this case, one can easily show the following:

Proposition 1.26. [28] Let $(X, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{C})$ and $(X', \mathcal{F}', \mathcal{C}')$ be two Frölicher spaces. A map $f : X \to X'$ is smooth in the sense of Frölicher if and only if it is smooth for the underlying nebulae diffeologies.

Thus, we can also state intuitively:

smooth manifold \Rightarrow Frölicher space \Rightarrow Diffeological space

With this construction, any complete locally convex topological vector space is a diffeological vector space, that is, a vector space for which addition and scalar multiplication is smooth. The same way, any finite or infinite dimensional manifold X has a nebulae diffeology, which fully determines smooth functions from or with values in X. We now finish the comparison of the notions of diffeological and Frölicher space following mostly [28, 45], see, e.g., [30]:

Theorem 1.27. Let (X, \mathcal{D}) be a diffeological space. There exists a unique Frölicher structure $(X, \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{D}}, \mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{D}})$ on X such that for any Frölicher structure $(X, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{C})$ on X, these two equivalent conditions are fulfilled:

(i) the canonical inclusion is smooth in the sense of Frölicher $(X, \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{D}}, \mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{D}}) \rightarrow (X, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{C})$

(ii) the canonical inclusion is smooth in the sense of diffeologies $(X, \mathcal{D}) \to (X, \mathcal{D}_{\infty}(\mathcal{F})).$

Moreover, $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{D}}$ is generated by the family

 $\mathcal{F}_0 = \{ f : X \to \mathbb{R} \text{ smooth for the usual diffeology of } \mathbb{R} \}.$

We call **Frölicher completion** of \mathcal{D} the Fr"olicher structure $(X, \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{D}}, \mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{D}})$.

Definition 1.28. [45] A *reflexive* diffeological space is a diffeological space (X, D) such that $\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{D}_{\infty}(\mathcal{F}_{D})$.

Theorem 1.29. [45] The category of Frölicher spaces is exactly the category of reflexive diffeological spaces.

This last theorem allows us to make no difference between Frölicher spaces and reflexive diffeological spaces. We shall call them Frölicher spaces, even when working with their underlying diffeologies.

A deeper analysis of these implications has been given in [45]. The next remark is inspired on this work and on [28]; it is based on [25, p.26, Boman's theorem]. For this, we have to define the 1 dimensional diffeology $\mathcal{D}_1(\mathcal{F})$, also called "spaghetti diffeology" in [9], made of plots $P \in \mathcal{D}_{\infty}(\mathcal{F})$ which factor smoothly through \mathbb{R} :

$$P: U \subset \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R} \to X.$$

This is also the diffeology minimal for inclusion which contains the set of contours \mathcal{C} .

Remark 1.30. We notice that the set of contours C of the Frölicher space (X, \mathcal{F}, C) does not give us a diffeology, because a diffeology needs to be stable under restriction of domains. In the case of paths in C the domain is always \mathbb{R} . However, C defines a "minimal diffeology" $\mathcal{D}_1(\mathcal{F})$ whose plots are smooth parameterizations which are locally of the type $c \circ g$, where $g \in \mathcal{D}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ and $c \in C$. Within this setting, a map $f : (X, \mathcal{F}, C) \to (X', \mathcal{F}', C')$ is smooth if and only if it is smooth $(X, \mathcal{D}_{\infty}(\mathcal{F})) \to$ $(X', \mathcal{D}_{\infty}(\mathcal{F}'))$ or equivalently smooth $.(X, \mathcal{D}_1(\mathcal{F})) \to (X', \mathcal{D}_1(\mathcal{F}'))$

We apply the results on product diffeologies to the case of Frölicher spaces and we derive very easily, (compare with, e.g., [25]) the following:

Proposition 1.31. Let $(X, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{C})$ and $(X', \mathcal{F}', \mathcal{C}')$ be two Frölicher spaces equipped with their natural diffeologies \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{D}' . There is a natural structure of Frölicher space on $X \times X'$ which contours $\mathcal{C} \times \mathcal{C}'$ are the 1-plots of $\mathcal{D} \times \mathcal{D}'$.

We can even state the result above for the case of infinite products; we simply take cartesian products of the plots or of the contours. We also remark that given an algebraic structure, we can define a corresponding compatible diffeological structure. For example, a \mathbb{R} -vector space equipped with a diffeology is called a diffeological vector space if addition and scalar multiplication are smooth (with respect to the canonical diffeology on \mathbb{R}), see [22]. An analogous definition holds for Frölicher vector spaces. Other examples will arise in the rest of the text.

Remark 1.32. Frölicher, c^{∞} and Gâteaux smoothness are the same notion if we restrict to a Fréchet context, see [25, Theorem 4.11]. Indeed, for a smooth map $f:(F, \mathcal{D}_1(F)) \to \mathbb{R}$ defined on a Fréchet space with its 1-dimensional diffeology, we have that $\forall (x,h) \in F^2$, the map $t \mapsto f(x+th)$ is smooth as a classical map in $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R})$. And hence, it is Gâteaux smooth. The converse is obvious.

1.4. The tangent space of interest for us. The question of tangent spaces is not yet solved for diffeological spaces. Indeed, even if there exists actually a shared notion of cotangent space of a diffeological space, the multiple possible generalizations of the notion of tangent space to a diffeological space appear as non-equivalent and many of them are well-motivated by their applications. A nonexhaustive list of tangent spaces is the following:

- (1) The tangent cone defined by [26] where tangent elements are germs of paths on the diffeological space, identified through tangent plots.
- (2) The tangent cone defined by [29] for Frölicher spaces and extended in [18] to any diffeological space, where tangent elements are germs of paths on the diffeological space, understood as local derivations of smooth ℝ-valued functions. This tangent cone can be different from the first one.
- (3) One can consider linear combinations in each of these tangent cones, along the line of [8] and [19] respectively for each context.
- (4) the Diff-tangent space defined in [30] for Frölicher spaces, where tangent element are evaluations at one point of tangent vector fields, understood

as elements of the internal tangent space at the identity of the group of diffeomorphisms.

For an extensive review of these constructions, we refer to [18]. Since we need to evaluate differentials on tangent vectors, we choose the definition (1) for the tangent space. More precisely, we consider the set of all paths that maps 0 to x and identify two of these paths with each other if they coincide on tangent spaces of plots. The domain dom(P) of each plot P of \mathcal{D} can be considered as a smooth manifold, and first objects of interest are tangent vectors in the tangent space $T \operatorname{dom}(P)$. They are understood as germs of smooth path $\frac{d\gamma}{dt}|_{t=0}$ where $\gamma \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \operatorname{dom}(P))$. Let $x \in X$ and let us consider

$$\mathcal{C}_x = \{ \gamma \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, X) \, | \, \gamma(0) = x \} \,.$$

For each $P \in \mathcal{D}$, we also define

$$\mathcal{C}_{x,P} = \left\{ \gamma \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \operatorname{dom}(P)) \, | \, P \circ \gamma(0) = x \right\}.$$

This set of smooth paths passing at x enables to define the kinematic set

$$\mathcal{K}_x = \prod_{P \in \mathcal{D}} \left\{ \frac{d\gamma}{dt} |_{t=0} \, | \, \gamma \in \mathcal{C}_{x,P} \right\} = \prod_{p \in \mathcal{D}} \prod_{x_0 \in p^{-1}(x)} T_{x_0} \operatorname{dom}(P)$$

Therefore, we identify $(X_1, X_2) \in \mathcal{K}_x^2$, where $X_1 = \frac{d\gamma_1}{dt}|_{t=0} \in T_{x_1} \operatorname{dom}(P_1)$ and $X_2 = \frac{d\gamma_2}{dt}|_{t=0} \in T_{x_2} \operatorname{dom}(P_2)$ if there exists a $P_3 \in \mathcal{D}$ and $(\gamma_{3,1}, \gamma_{3,2}) \in C_{x,P_3}$ such that

(1)
$$\begin{cases} \forall i \in \{1, 2\}, P_i \circ \gamma_i = P_{3,i} \circ \gamma_{3,i} \\ \frac{d\gamma_{3,1}}{dt}|_{t=0} = \frac{d\gamma_{3,2}}{dt}|_{t=0} \end{cases}$$

This identification is reflexive, symmetric, but not transitive, as is shown in the following counter-example:

Example 1.33. Let

$$X = \{ (x, y, z) \in \mathbb{R}^3 \, | \, yz = 0 \}.$$

We equip X with its subset diffeology, inherited from the nebulae diffeology of \mathbb{R}^3 . Let us conside the paths

$$\gamma_1(t) = (t, t^2, 0)$$

and

$$\gamma_2(t) = (t, 0, t^2).$$

The natural intuition (which will be shown to have a defect later in the exposition, for another diffeology on X) says that

$$\frac{d\gamma_1}{dt}|_{t=0} = \frac{d\gamma_2}{dt}|_{t=0} = (1,0,0),$$

but there is no parametrization P_3 at x = (0,0,0) that fulfills (1). Indeed, the diffeology of X is generated by the push-forwards of the plots of \mathbb{R}^2 to X by the maps $(x, y) \mapsto (x, y, 0)$ and $(x, y \mapsto (x, 0, y)$. In order to identify the two germs, one has to consider an intermediate path $\gamma_{1.5}(t) = (t, 0, 0)$.

Therefore, we define

Definition 1.34. We define the equivalence relation \sim on \mathcal{K}_x as follows: $\forall (X_1, X_2) \in \mathcal{K}_x, u_1 \sim u_2$ if and only if one of the two following conditions is fulfilled:

(1)

$$\exists (\gamma_1, \gamma_2) \in \left(\prod_{P \in \mathcal{D}} \mathcal{C}_{x,P} \right)^2, \frac{d\gamma_1}{dt}|_{t=0} = u_1 \in T \operatorname{dom}(P_1), \frac{d\gamma_2}{dt}|_{t=0} = u_2 \in T \operatorname{dom}(P_2)$$

and also $P_3 \in \mathcal{D}$ and $(\gamma_{3,1}, \gamma_{3,2}) \in C_{x,P_3}$ such that condition (1) applies.

(2) there exists a finite sequence $(v_1, ..., v_k) \in \mathcal{K}_x^k$ such that $v_1 = u_1, v_k = u_2$, and such that condition (1) applies to v_i and v_{i+1} for each index $i \in \mathbb{N}_{k-1}$.

Definition 1.35. The *internal* or *kinetic tangent cone* of X at $x \in X$ is defined by

$$^{i}T_{x}X = \mathcal{K}_{x}/\sim,$$

The space ${}^{i}T_{x}X$ is endowed by the push-forward of the functional diffeology on \mathcal{C}_{x} .

The elements of ${}^{i}T_{x}X$ are called **germs of paths** on X at x.

2. The weak power set diffeology

Let us begin with the first type of diffeologies on the power set of a diffeological space.

Definition 2.1. Let X be a diffeological space. The set of parametrizations $P : U \to \mathfrak{P}(X)$ with the following property is a diffeology on $\mathfrak{P}(X)$, called the **weak** power set diffeology:

WPD. For every $r_0 \in U$, if $P(r_0) \neq \emptyset$, there exists an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 and a plot $\sigma : V \to X$, called **local selection plot**, such that $\sigma(r) \in P(r)$, for every $r \in V$.

We denote by $\mathfrak{P}_w(X)$ the power set $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ endowed with the weak power set diffeology and call it the **weak power space**.

Remark 2.2. The weak power set diffeology differs from the "minimal power set diffeology" given in [22, Exercise 32]. In fact, the minimal power set diffeology is finer than the weak power set diffeology. For instance, the plot $P : \mathbb{R} \to \mathfrak{P}_w(X)$ in the weak power space, with $r \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\} \mapsto X$ and $0 \mapsto \emptyset$, is not a plot with respect to the minimal power set diffeology. Because, there is no neighborhood $V \subset \mathbb{R}$ of 0 such that $P|_V$ is constant with the value \emptyset . But if we restrict ourselves to the set $\mathfrak{P}^*(X)$ of nonempty subsets of X, these two diffeologies coincide.

Proposition 2.3. Let X be a diffeological space. The canonical map $i : X \to \mathfrak{P}_w(X)$ defined by $i(x) = \{x\}$ is a diffeological immersion. In particular, $\dim(X) \leq \dim(\mathfrak{P}_w(X))$.

Proof. It is clear that i is smooth. Let $P: U \to \mathfrak{P}_w(X)$ be a plot and $(r_0, x_0) \in P^*X$, or $P(r_0) = i(x_0) = \{x_0\}$. By **WPD**, for $r_0 \in U$, there exist an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 and a local selection plot $\sigma: V \to X$ such that $\sigma(r) \in P(r)$, for every $r \in V$. Let $O := P^*X \cap (V \times X)$, which is a D-open neighborhood of (r_0, x_0) in P^*X , and define $\rho: V \to U \times X$ by $\rho(r) = (r, \sigma(r))$. Then for each $(r, x) \in O$, we have $\sigma(r) \in P(r) = i(x) = \{x\}$, which yields

$$\rho \circ P^* \imath(r, x) = \rho(r) = (r, \sigma(r)) = (r, x).$$

Therefore, i is a diffeological immersion.

Remark 2.4. Similar to [22, Exercise 32], one can observe that for any equivalence relation R over X, the inclusion $X/R \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{P}_w(X)$ is an induction, where X/R is endowed with the quotient diffeology. However, the finest diffeology on $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ with this property has the following description. Let $\mathsf{EqRel}(X)$ denote the set of all equivalence relations over X. Consider the sum space $Y = (\bigsqcup_{R \in \mathsf{EqRel}(X)} X/R) \bigsqcup \{\emptyset\}$, where X/R is endowed with the quotient diffeology. In this way, one can define the push-forward diffeology \mathcal{D} on $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ through the map $Y \to \mathfrak{P}(X)$ taking $(R, A) \in X/R \mapsto A \in \mathfrak{P}(X)$ and $\emptyset \mapsto \emptyset$. More explicitly, a parametrization $P: U \to \mathfrak{P}(X)$ is an element of \mathcal{D} if and only if

• for each $r_0 \in U$, there exists an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 such that either $P|_V$ is constant with the value \emptyset , or $P|_V$ is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_w^{\star}(X)$ such that $P(r) \cap P(r') = \emptyset$ or P(r) = P(r'), for all $r \neq r' \in V$.

In fact, \mathcal{D} is the finest diffeology on $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ with this feature that for any equivalence relation R over X, the inclusion $X/R \hookrightarrow (\mathfrak{P}(X), \mathcal{D})$ is an induction.

From the viewpoint of usual topologies, these versions of the power set diffeologies may be too coarse, because it seems to make too many functions smooth in basic contexts as shown in the next example.

Example 2.5. The set-valued map $\phi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathfrak{P}_w(\mathbb{R})$ given by

$$\phi(x) = \begin{cases} \{0,1\} & x \in \mathbb{Q} \\ \{0\} & x \notin \mathbb{Q} \end{cases}$$

is smooth. This map is not lower semi-continuous, because for open subset $(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{2}) \subset \mathbb{R}$, one has $\phi^{-1}((\frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{2})) = \{x \in \mathbb{R} \mid \phi(x) \cap (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{2}) \neq \emptyset\} = \mathbb{Q}$, which is not open.

To avoid such pathological behaviors of the weak power set diffeology, in the next section we introduce and investigate a refinement of this diffeology.

3. The union power set diffeology

In this section, we introduce the second type of diffeologies for the power sets and investigate its properties and behaviors in various aspects.

Definition 3.1. Let $\{P_i : U_i \to \mathfrak{P}(X)\}_{i \in J}$ be a family of n-parametrizations in $\mathfrak{P}(X)$. The parametrization $\bigcup_{i \in J} P_i : \bigcup_{i \in J} U_i \to \mathfrak{P}(X)$ defined by

$$(\bigcup_{i \in J} P_i)(r) = \bigcup \{ P_i(r) \mid i \in J, r \in \operatorname{dom}(P_i) \}, \quad \text{for each } r \in U,$$

is called the **union** of this family. By convention, the union of the empty family is the parametrization $\emptyset \to \mathfrak{P}(X)$.

One can understand the (not necessarily compatible) family $\{P_i : U_i \to \mathfrak{P}(X)\}_{i \in J}$ of *n*-parametrizations with the compatible family

 $\Pi_i: U_i \to \mathfrak{P}(X), \quad r \mapsto \bigcup \{P_j(r) \mid j \in J, r \in \operatorname{dom}(P_j)\}.$

of *n*-parametrizations such that the supremum $\{\Pi_i\}_{i \in J}$ is equal to the union of $\{P_i\}_{i \in J}$.

If $\{P_i : U_i \to X\}_{i \in J}$ is a compatible family of *n*-parametrizations in X (regarded as those in $\mathfrak{P}(X)$), the union parametrization is equal to the supremum of this family.

Definition 3.2. Let \mathcal{A} be a collection of parametrizations in $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ such that

(a) \mathcal{A} contains 0-parametrizations $0 \mapsto \emptyset$ and $0 \mapsto \{x\}$, for all $x \in X$,

(b) A is stable under the smooth compatibility condition in Definition 1.1, i.e., for every element P : U → X of A and every smooth map F : V → U between domains, the composition P ∘ F belongs to A.

The set of parametrizations P that are the union of a family $\{P_i\}_{i \in J}$ of parametrizations in $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ with $P_i \in \mathcal{A}$ is a diffeology on $\mathfrak{P}(X)$, called the **union diffeology** generated by \mathcal{A} .

Let \mathcal{A} be an arbitrary collection of parametrizations in $\mathfrak{P}(X)$. Extended \mathcal{A} to $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$ by adding 0-parametrizations $0 \mapsto \emptyset$ and $0 \mapsto \{x\}, x \in X$, to \mathcal{A} . Composing $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$ with smooth map $F: V \to U$ between domains yields a new collection satisfying the requirements (a) and (b) of Definition 3.2, which generates a union diffeology. In particular, a set-valued map $\phi: X' \to \mathfrak{P}(X)$ defined on a diffeological space X' induces a diffeology on $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ as the union diffeology generated by the collection $\{\phi \circ P \mid P \text{ is a plot in } X'\}$.

Definition 3.3. Let X be a diffeological space. The union power set diffeology on $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ is the union diffeology generated by the canonical map $i : X \to \mathfrak{P}(X)$ defined by $i(x) = \{x\}$. We denote by $\mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ the power set $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ endowed with the union power set diffeology and call it the **union power space**.

Proposition 3.4. Let X be a diffeological space. A parametrization $P: U \to \mathfrak{P}(X)$ is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ if and only if

UPD. for every $r_0 \in U$ and any initial condition $x_0 \in P(r_0)$, there exist an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 and a plot $\sigma : V \to X$ in X, called **local implicit plot**, such that $\sigma(r) \in P(r)$, for every $r \in V$ and $\sigma(r_0) = x_0$.

Proof. Suppose that $P: U \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ is a plot. By definition, P is the union of a collection $\{i \circ P_i \mid P_i: U_i \to X \text{ is a plot in } X, i \in J\}$ and probably, the constant parametrization with the value \emptyset defined on some open subset of U. Let $r_0 \in U$ and $x_0 \in P(r_0) = \bigcup_{i \in J} i \circ P_i(r_0)$. Then $x_0 \in i \circ P_i(r_0)$ and $r_0 \in U_i$, for some $i \in J$. Hence $P_i: U_i \to X$ is a local implicit plot such that $P_i(r) \in P(r)$ for every $r \in U_i \subset U$, and $P_i(r_0) = x_0$.

Conversely, suppose that $P: U \to \mathfrak{P}(X)$ is a parametrization with the property **UPD**. Let \mathcal{I} be the collection of all implicit plots σ of P and the constant parametrization defined on some open subset of U with the value \emptyset . Let Q be the union parametrization of the family of \mathcal{I} . We prove that Q = P. Firstly, the domain of definition of Q is exactly U. Now let $r_0 \in U$ be arbitrary. It is obvious that $Q(r_0) \subset P(r_0)$. So let $x_0 \in P(r_0)$. Then there exists an implicit plot $\sigma : V \to X$, defined on an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 with $\sigma(r_0) = x_0$, which implies $x_0 \in Q(r_0)$. Hence Q = P. Indeed, P is the union of its local implicit plots and a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(X)$.

Corollary 3.5. The identity map $id : \mathfrak{P}_u(X) \to \mathfrak{P}_w(X)$ is smooth. In other words, the union power set diffeology is finer than the weak power set diffeology.

3.1. Smooth set-valued mappings. Let X and Y be diffeological spaces. We can simply treat a smooth set-valued map $\phi : X \to \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$ as a usual smooth map, that is, a map taking the plots in X to the plots in $\mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$.

Example 3.6. Suppose that X is a diffeological space and $f, g : X \to \mathbb{R}$ are two smooth functions. The map $\phi : X \to \mathfrak{P}_u(\mathbb{R})$ defined by

$$\phi(x) = [\min\{f(x), g(x)\}, \max\{f(x), g(x)\}]$$

is smooth. To verify this, let $P: U \to X$ be a plot and let $r_0 \in U$, $a_0 \in \phi \circ P(r_0)$. Then we have two cases:

(i) If $f(P(r_0)) \neq g(P(r_0))$: Let $t_0 = \frac{a_0 - g \circ P(r_0)}{f \circ P(r_0) - g \circ P(r_0)}$, which is a number belonging to [0,1]. Define $\sigma : U \to \mathbb{R}$ by $\sigma(r) = (t_0)f \circ P(r) + (1-t_0)g \circ P(r)$. Since the sum and the product in \mathbb{R} are smooth, σ is also smooth. One can check that $\sigma(r) \in \phi \circ P(r)$. In particular, $\sigma(r_0) = (t_0)f \circ P(r_0) + (1-t_0)g \circ P(r_0) = a_0$. (ii) If $f(P(r_0)) = g(P(r_0))$: It is enough to choose $\sigma = f \circ P$. Clearly, σ has the

desired properties.

Theorem 3.7. Let X and Y be diffeological spaces. Suppose that $\phi : X \to \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$ is a smooth set-valued map. Then ϕ is lower semi-continuous with respect to the D-topology.

Proof. Assume that O is a D-open subset of Y. Let $P: U \to X$ be any plot and let $r_0 \in P^{-1}(\phi^{-1}(O))$ be arbitrary, where $\phi^{-1}(O) = \{x \in X \mid \phi(x) \cap O \neq \emptyset\}$. So there is an element y_0 in $\phi \circ P(r_0) \cap O$. Because ϕ is smooth, $\phi \circ P$ is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$. There exist an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 and a plot $\sigma: V \to Y$ such that $\sigma(r) \in \phi \circ P(r)$, for every $r \in V$, and $\sigma(r_0) = y_0$. If $r \in \sigma^{-1}(O)$, then $\sigma(r) \in \phi \circ P(r) \cap O \neq \emptyset$ and hence $r \in (\phi \circ P)^{-1}(O) = P^{-1}(\phi^{-1}(O))$, which implies $\sigma^{-1}(O) \subset P^{-1}(\phi^{-1}(O))$. But $\sigma^{-1}(O)$ is an open neighborhood of r_0 so that $P^{-1}(\phi^{-1}(O))$ is open as well. Therefore $\phi^{-1}(O)$ is D-open.

Proposition 3.8. The map $\iota : X \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ defined by $\iota(x) = \{x\}$ is a strong embedding.

Proof. It is easily seen that i is an induction. Also, since the identity map id : $\mathfrak{P}_u(X) \to \mathfrak{P}_w(X)$ is smooth and $i : X \to \mathfrak{P}_w(X)$ is a diffeological immersion, $i : X \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ is a diffeological immersion, by Proposition 1.22. We show i is a Dtopological embedding, too. Assume that $O \subset X$ is D-open. Set $O' = \{A \in \mathfrak{P}(X) \mid A \cap O \neq \emptyset\}$ so that $i(O) = i(X) \cap O'$. It is sufficient to prove that O' is D-open. Let $P : U \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ be a plot. By Theorem 3.7, P is lower semi-continuous with respect to the D-topology. So

$$P^{-1}(O') = \{ r \in U \mid P(r) \in O' \} = \{ r \in U \mid P(r) \cap O \neq \emptyset \}$$

is open, which means O' is D-open. Therefore, it is a strong embedding.

Corollary 3.9. dim $(X) \leq \dim(\mathfrak{P}_u(X))$, for any diffeological space X.

Example 3.10. In the above statement, the equality may or may not be true. As example, the equality holds for $X = \mathbb{R}^0$. While for the discrete space \mathbb{Q} of the rational numbers, the equality does not hold. Because, the parametrization $P : \mathbb{R} \to \mathfrak{P}_u(\mathbb{Q})$ given by $P(0) = \{0\}$ and $P(r) = [-|r|, |r|] \cap \mathbb{Q}$ for $r \neq 0$, is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(\mathbb{Q})$, which is not locally constant. Therefore, $\dim(\mathbb{Q}) = 0 < \dim(\mathfrak{P}_u(\mathbb{Q}))$.

Proposition 3.11. Let X and Y be diffeological spaces. A set-valued map ϕ : $X \to \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$ is smooth if and only if the extension $\phi : \mathfrak{P}_u(X) \to \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$ defined by $\phi(A) = \bigcup_{x \in A} \phi(x)$ for every subset $A \subset X$, is smooth.

Proof. The proof is quite similar to that of [2].

Theorem 3.12. The functional diffeology on $C^{\infty}(X, \mathfrak{P}_u(Y))$ is the coarsest diffeology for which $\widetilde{\text{ev}}: C^{\infty}(X, \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)) \times \mathfrak{P}_u(X) \to \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$ defined by $\widetilde{\text{ev}}(\phi, A) = \widetilde{\phi}(A)$

is smooth. In particular, the operator $\sim: C^{\infty}(X, \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)) \to C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{P}_u(X), \mathfrak{P}_u(Y))$ taking ϕ to the extension ϕ is smooth.

Proof. Assume that $P: U \to C^{\infty}(X, \mathfrak{P}_u(Y))$ is a plot with respect to the functional diffeology and denote by $\widetilde{P}: U \to C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{P}_u(X), \mathfrak{P}_u(Y))$ the map given by $\widetilde{P}(r) = \widetilde{P(r)}$. Let $Q: V \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ be a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(X)$, $(r_0, s_0) \in U \times V$ and $y_0 \in \widetilde{\text{ev}} \circ (\widetilde{P} \times Q)(r_0, s_0)$. Then there exists $x_0 \in Q(s_0)$ such that $y_0 \in P(r_0)(x_0)$. So we have a plot $\sigma: V' \to X$ defined on an open neighborhood of $s_0 \in V' \subset V$ with $\sigma(s_0) = x_0$ and $\sigma(s) \in Q(s)$ for all $s \in V'$. On the other hand, $\text{ev}: C^{\infty}(X, \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)) \times X \to \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$ is smooth. So $\text{ev} \circ (P \times \sigma): U \times V' \to \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$ is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$ that $y_0 \in \text{ev} \circ (P \times \sigma)(r_0, s_0)$. Consequently, we obtain a plot $\tau: W \to Y$ defined on an open neighborhood of $(r_0, s_0) \in W \subset U \times V'$ with $\tau(r_0, s_0) = y_0$ and $\tau(r, s) \in \text{ev} \circ (P \times \sigma)(r, s) \subset \widetilde{P} \circ (\widetilde{P}, Q)(r, s)$ for all $(r, s) \in W$. As a result, the way of proof shows that the map $\sim: C^{\infty}(X, \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)) \to C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{P}_u(X), \mathfrak{P}_u(Y))$ is smooth as well.

Finally, if \mathcal{D} is any diffeology on $C^{\infty}(X, \mathfrak{P}_u(Y))$ for which $\tilde{\text{ev}}$ is smooth, then obviously the composition

$$\operatorname{ev}: C^{\infty}(X, \mathfrak{P}_{u}(Y)) \times X \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id} \times \imath} C^{\infty}(X, \mathfrak{P}_{u}(Y)) \times \mathfrak{P}_{u}(X) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{ev}} \mathfrak{P}_{u}(Y)$$

is smooth as well, which is equal to $ev : C^{\infty}(X, \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)) \times X \to \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$. Therefore, \mathcal{D} is finer than the functional diffeology. \Box

Proposition 3.13. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a map between diffeological spaces and $f_* : \mathfrak{P}_u(X) \to \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$ be the induced hyper-map, taking every subset $A \subset X$ to f(A).

- (1) The map f is smooth if and only if f_{\star} is smooth.
- (2) The map f is an induction if and only if f_{\star} is an induction.
- (3) The map f is a diffeomorphism if and only if f_{\star} is a diffeomorphism.
- (4) If f_{\star} is a diffeological immersion, f is a diffeological immersion.
- (5) If f_{\star} is a diffeological submersion, f is a diffeological submersion.
- (6) If f_{\star} is a diffeological étale map, f is a diffeological étale map.
- (7) If f_{\star} is a local subduction, f is a local subduction.
- (8) If f_{\star} is a subduction, f is a subduction.
- (9) If f is a local subduction, then f_{\star} is a subduction.

Proof. (1) Assume that f is smooth and $P: U \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ is a plot. To show $f_\star \circ P: U \to \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$ is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$, let $r_0 \in U, y_0 \in f_\star \circ P(r_0)$. Then there is an element $x_0 \in P(r_0)$ with $y_0 = f(x_0)$. By **UPD**, there exist an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 and a plot $\sigma: V \to X$ such that $\sigma(r_0) = x_0$ and $\sigma(r) \in P(r)$, for every $r \in V$. But $f \circ \sigma$ is a plot in Y with $f \circ \sigma(r) = f(x_0) = y_0$ and one can write $f \circ \sigma(r) \in f(P(r)) = f_\star \circ P(r)$, for every $r \in V$. Thus, the parametrization $f_\star \circ P: U \to \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$ is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$ and f_\star is smooth. Conversely, if f_\star is smooth, then the composition $f_\star \circ \iota$ is also smooth. Hence, f is smooth.

(2) Suppose first that f is an induction. To see that f_{\star} is injective, let f(A) = f(B) for subsets A and B of X. Let $a \in A$, then $f(a) \in f(A) = f(B)$. There is some $b \in B$ such that f(a) = f(b). Thus, a = b and a belongs to B, that is, $A \subset B$. Interchanging the roles of elements of A and B, we obtain the equality A = B. The smoothness of f_{\star} is a consequence of (1). So assume that $P : U \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ is a parametrization such that $f_{\star} \circ P$ is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$. To prove that P is a plot

in $\mathfrak{P}_u(X)$, let $r_0 \in U$, $x_0 \in P(r_0)$. By **UPD**, there exist an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 and a plot $\sigma : V \to Y$ such that $\sigma(r_0) = f(x_0)$ and $\sigma(r) \in f_* \circ P(r)$, for every $r \in V$. Thus, for every $r \in V$, one can choose an element $\tau_r \in P(r)$ with $\sigma(r) = f(\tau_r)$. In particular, $\tau_{r_0} = x_0$. Define the parametrization $\tau : V \to X$ by $r \mapsto \tau_r$ so that $f \circ \tau = \sigma$. Since f is an induction, we conclude that τ is a plot in X and hence P is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(X)$. Therefore, f_* is an induction.

Conversely, let f_{\star} be an induction. Obviously, f is injective. Assume that $P: U \to X$ is a parametrization such that $f \circ P$ is a plot in Y. Then $i \circ f \circ P$, or equivalently, $f_{\star} \circ i \circ P$ is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_{u}(Y)$. Since $f_{\star} \circ i$ is an induction, P is a plot in X.

(3) By item (2) and this fact that f is surjective if and only if f_{\star} is surjective, the result is achieved.

(4) Smoothness of f is a consequence of (1). We also have the commutative diagram



If f_{\star} is a diffeological immersion, then so is $f_{\star} \circ i$. Consequently, f is a diffeological immersion by Proposition 1.22.

(5) Smoothness of f is a consequence of (1). Assume that $P: U \to Y$ is a plot in Y and let $r_0 \in U$, $x_0 \in f^{-1}(P(r_0))$. Then $i \circ P$ is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$. As f_* is a diffeological submersion, there exists a plot $L: V \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$, where $V \subset U$ is an open neighborhood of r_0 , such that $f_* \circ L = i \circ P|_V$ and that $P(r_0) = \{x_0\}$. By **UPD**, we get a plot $\sigma: W \to X$, where $W \subset V$ is an open neighborhood of r_0 , such that $\sigma(r_0) = x_0$ and $\sigma(r) \in L(r)$, for every $r \in W$. Obviously, $f \circ \sigma(r) \in$ $f_* \circ L(r) = i \circ P(r) = \{P(r)\}$ for every $r \in W$, and so $f \circ \sigma = P|_W$.

(6) This is a direct consequence of items (4) and (5).

(7) This is clear by item (5) and this fact that f is surjective if and only if f_{\star} is surjective.

(8) The proof is similar to (5).

(9) Again, the smoothness of f_{\star} is a consequence of (1). Also, f is surjective if and only if f_{\star} is surjective. Now consider a plot $Q: U \to \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$. Define the parametrization $P: U \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ by $P(r) := f^{-1}(Q(r))$. To verify P is a plot, let $r_0 \in U$ and $x_0 \in P(r_0)$ so that $f(x_0) \in Q(r_0)$. By PD, there is a plot $\tau :$ $V \to Y$, where $V \subset U$ is an open neighborhood of r_0 , such that $\tau(r_0) = f(x_0)$ and $\tau(r) \in Q(r)$, for every $r \in V$. Because f is a local subduction, one can find a plot $\sigma: W \to X$, where $W \subset V$ is an open neighborhood of r_0 , such that $\sigma(r_0) = x_0$ and $f \circ \sigma = \tau$, which implies $\sigma(r) \in f^{-1}(\tau(r)) \subset f^{-1}(Q(r)) = P(r)$, for every $r \in W$. Thus, P is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(X)$. Finally, we have $f_{\star} \circ P(r) = f_{\star}(f^{-1}(Q(r)) = Q(r))$. Therefore, f_{\star} is a subduction.

Denote by Diff the category of diffeological spaces and smooth maps.

Corollary 3.14. The correspondence \mathfrak{P}_u : Diff \to Diff given by $X \mapsto \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ in the level of objects and $f \mapsto f_*$ in the level of morphisms defines a faithful functor.

3.2. Higher order union power spaces.

Notation 3.15. Let X be a diffeological space. Denote $\mathfrak{P}_u(\mathfrak{P}_u(X))$ by $\mathfrak{P}_u^2(X)$ and inductively, $\mathfrak{P}_u(\mathfrak{P}_u^{n-1}(X))$ by $\mathfrak{P}_u^n(X)$, for every integer $n \geq 2$.

Proposition 3.16. Let X be a diffeological space. The map $\tau_X : \mathfrak{P}_u(X) \to \mathfrak{P}_u^2(X)$ taking any subset $A \subset X$ to the subspace topology on A induced from the D-topology of X, i.e. $\tau_X(A) = \{A \cap O \mid O \subset X \text{ is D-open }\}$, is a strong embedding.

Proof. To check that τ_X is smooth, let $P: U \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ be a plot and $r_0 \in U, O_0 \in \tau_X \circ P(r_0)$. Then $O_0 = P(r_0) \cap O'_0$, for some D-open subset $O'_0 \subset X$. Define $Q: U \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ by $Q(r) = P(r) \cap O'_0$ for all $r \in U$ so that $Q(r) \in \tau_X \circ P(r)$ and $Q(r_0) = O_0$. If we prove that Q is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(X)$, then $\tau_X \circ P$ is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u^2(X)$ by definition. So let $s_0 \in U$ and $x_0 \in Q(s_0) = P(s_0) \cap O'_0$. As $x_0 \in P(s_0)$ and P is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(X)$, we deduce that there exists an implicit plot $\sigma: V \to X$, defined on an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of s_0 with $\sigma(s_0) = x_0$ and $\sigma(r) \in P(r)$ for all $r \in V$. Also, since $x_0 \in O'_0$ and $O'_0 \subset X$ is a D-open subset, after shrinking V, we obtain $\sigma(r) \in P(r) \cap O'_0 = Q(r)$ on some neighborhood of s_0 . Thus, Q is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(X)$.

On the other hand, consider the map $\theta: \mathfrak{P}_u^2(X) \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ taking any collection \mathcal{C} of the subsets of X to its union, i.e. $\theta(\mathcal{C}) = \bigcup \mathcal{C}$. To observe that θ is smooth, let $\Pi: U \to \mathfrak{P}_u^2(X)$ be a plot and $r_0 \in U, x_0 \in \theta \circ \Pi(r_0) = \bigcup \Pi(r_0)$. Then $x_0 \in A_0$ for some $A_0 \in \Pi(r_0)$, and by **UPD**, there exists a plot $Q: V \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$, defined on an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 such that $Q(r_0) = A_0 \ni x_0$ and $Q(r) \in \Pi(r)$. Again by **UPD**, one can find an implicit plot $\sigma: W \to X$ with $\sigma(r_0) = x_0$ and $\sigma(r) \in Q(r) \subset \bigcup \Pi(r) = \theta \circ \Pi(r)$. Hence $\theta \circ \Pi$ is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(X)$. Finally, $\theta \circ \tau_X(A) = A$ for all $A \in \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$, so that τ_X is a strong embedding.

As a result, for any diffeological space X, one has two infinite sequences

$$X \xrightarrow{\iota_X} \mathfrak{P}_u(X) \xrightarrow{\iota_{\mathfrak{P}_u(X)}} \mathfrak{P}_u^2(X) \longrightarrow \cdots \longrightarrow \mathfrak{P}_u^n(X) \xrightarrow{\iota_{\mathfrak{P}_u^n(X)}} \mathfrak{P}_u^{n+1}(X) \longrightarrow \cdots$$

and

$$\mathfrak{P}_u(X) \xrightarrow{\tau_X} \mathfrak{P}_u^2(X) \longrightarrow \cdots \longrightarrow \mathfrak{P}_u^n(X) \xrightarrow{'\mathfrak{P}_u^{n-1}(X)} \mathfrak{P}_u^{n+1}(X) \longrightarrow \cdots$$

of consecutive strong embeddings.

3.3. **Smooth selection problem.** Here we state smooth selection problem in the context of diffeology and explore its connections with smoothness of set-valued maps.

Definition 3.17. Let X and Y be diffeological spaces. Let $\phi : X \to \mathfrak{P}^*(Y)$ be a set-valued map. The smooth selection problem of ϕ for given $x_0 \in X$ and $y_0 \in \phi(x_0)$ is finding a smooth selection, i.e., a smooth map $\sigma : X \to Y$ such that $\sigma(x) \in \phi(x)$ for all $x \in X$, and $\sigma(x_0) = y_0$. Furthermore, we call a smooth map $\sigma : X \to Y$ with $\sigma(x) \in \phi(x)$ for all $x \in X$, a weak smooth selection.

Example 3.18. Let $\phi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathfrak{P}^*(\mathbb{R})$ be given by $\phi(0) = \{0\}$ and $\phi(r) = (-|r|, |r|)$ for $r \neq 0$. To solve the smooth selection problem, for every $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $y_0 \in \phi(x_0)$, consider the straight line $\sigma : r \mapsto (\frac{y_0}{x_0})r$, passing through y_0 and 0, as a smooth selection of ϕ .

Lemma 3.19. Suppose that $\phi : X \to \mathfrak{P}^{\star}(Y)$ is a set-valued map and $f : X' \to X$ is a smooth map. If for $\phi : X \to \mathfrak{P}^{\star}(Y)$, the smooth selection problem has solutions, then so is $\phi \circ f$.

Proof. The proof is straightforward.

Proposition 3.20. Let X and Y be diffeological spaces, and let $\phi : X \to \mathfrak{P}^{\star}(Y)$ be a set-valued map. ϕ is smooth if and only if there exists some covering generating family C of X such that for all $P \in C$, the smooth selection problem has solutions for $\phi \circ P$.

Proof. Assume that $\phi : X \to \mathfrak{P}^*(Y)$ is smooth and let $P : U \to X$ be any plot in X. Then $\phi \circ P$ is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}^*(Y)$, and by **UPD**, there is an open cover $\{U_i\}_{i \in J}$ of U such that the smooth selection problem has solutions for $\phi \circ P|_{U_i}$. Notice that the collection of such restrictions for all plots in X constitutes a covering generating family for X. The converse is trivial in view of Lemma 3.19.

Similarly, the smoothness of a set-valued map $\phi : X \to \mathfrak{P}_w^{\star}(Y)$ is equivalent to solving the weak smooth selection problem over a covering generating family of X.

Proposition 3.21. Let X and Y be diffeological spaces, and let $\phi : X \to \mathfrak{P}^{\star}(Y)$ be a set-valued map. If for each $x_0 \in X$ and $y_0 \in \phi(x_0)$, there exist a D-open neighborhood $O \subset X$ of x_0 and a smooth map $\alpha : O \to Y$ such that $\alpha(x_0) = y_0$ and $\alpha(x) \in \phi(x)$ for all $x \in O$, then $\phi : X \to \mathfrak{P}^{\star}_u(Y)$ is smooth with respect to the union power set diffeology.

Proof. Let $P: U \to X$ be a plot, let $r_0 \in U$ and $y_0 \in \phi \circ P(r_0)$. By hypothesis, there exist a D-open subset $P(r_0) \in O$ of X and a smooth map $\alpha : O \to Y$ such that $\alpha(P(r_0)) = y_0$ and $\alpha(x) \in \phi(x)$ for all $x \in O$. Set $V = P^{-1}(O)$, which is an open neighborhood of r_0 in U. Then $\alpha \circ P|_V$ is a plot in Y with $\alpha \circ P|_V(r_0) = y_0$ and $\alpha \circ P|_V(r) \in \phi \circ P(r)$ for all $r \in V$.

In particular, if one can solve smooth selection problem for a set-valued map $\phi: X \to \mathfrak{P}^{\star}(Y)$, then it is smooth with respect to the union power set diffeology. Thus, smoothness is a necessary, but not a sufficient, condition for smooth selection problem.

For manifolds, however, the smoothness is equivalent to solving the smooth selection problem over a D-open cover of X.

Proposition 3.22. Let M be a manifold, X be a diffeological space and let ϕ : $M \to \mathfrak{P}^{\star}(X)$ be a set-valued map. Then ϕ is smooth with respect to the union power set diffeology if and only if for each $p_0 \in M$ and $x_0 \in \phi(p_0)$, there exist a Dopen neighborhood $O \subset M$ of p_0 and smooth map $\alpha : O \to X$ such that $\alpha(p_0) = x_0$ and $\alpha(p) \in \phi(p)$ for all $p \in O$.

Proof. The "if" direction is clear by Proposition 3.21. For "only if", assume that $\phi: M \to \mathfrak{P}_u^{\star}(X)$ is smooth, and let $p_0 \in M$ and $x_0 \in \phi(p_0)$. Choose a chart $\psi: U \to U' \subset M$ at p_0 and let $p_0 = \psi(r_0)$, for some $r_0 \in U$. Since $\phi \circ \psi$ is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u^{\star}(X)$, there exist an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 and a plot $\sigma: V \to Y$ such that $\sigma(r_0) = x_0$ and $\sigma(r) \in \phi \circ \psi(r)$ for all $r \in V$. Now let $O = \psi(V) \subset U'$ and $\alpha = \sigma \circ \psi^{-1}|_O$. Then $\alpha(p_0) = \sigma \circ \psi^{-1}(p_0) = \sigma(r_0) = x_0$ and $\alpha(p) = \sigma \circ \psi^{-1}(p) \in \phi \circ \psi(\psi^{-1}(p)) = \phi(p)$, for all $p \in O$.

As a result, we observe that the notion of a smooth set-valued map is compatible with the classical one between Euclidean spaces (see, e.g., [43, Theorem 2.2.1]).

3.4. Smooth relations and power set diffeologies. It is well-known that there is a natural one-to-one correspondence between set-valued maps and relations. In fact, if $\phi : X \to \mathfrak{P}(Y)$ is a set-valued map, the subset $Graph(\phi) = \{(x, y) \mid y \in \phi(x)\}$ of $X \times Y$ is its corresponding relation. On the other hand, a relation R from X to Y define a set-valued map $\phi : X \to \mathfrak{P}(Y)$ by $\phi(x) = \{y \in Y \mid (x, y) \in R\}$, and we get $Graph(\phi) = R$. According to this one-to-one correspondence, a smooth relation between diffeological spaces makes sense.

Proposition 3.23. Let X and Y be diffeological spaces. Suppose that $\phi : X \to \mathfrak{P}(Y)$ is a set-valued map and $Graph(\phi)$ is its corresponding relation, as a subspace of $X \times Y$. Then

- (i) $\phi: X \to \mathfrak{P}_w(Y)$ is smooth if and only if the map $\operatorname{Pr}_1: \operatorname{Graph}(\phi) \to X$ is a weak subduction.
- (ii) $\phi: X \to \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$ is smooth if and only if the map $\Pr_1: Graph(\phi) \to X$ is a diffeological submersion.

Proof. The proof is straightforward.

This suggests to define smooth relation as follows (see also [22, Exercise 62(2)]):

Definition 3.24. Let R be a relation from a diffeological space X to a diffeological space Y. Consider R as a subspace of $X \times Y$.

- (i) R is smooth with respect to the weak power set diffeology if and only if $Pr_1: R \to X$ is a weak subduction.
- (ii) R is smooth with respect to the union power set diffeology if and only if Pr₁: R → X is a diffeological submersion.

We denote by $\operatorname{Rel}^{\infty}(X, Y)$ the space of smooth (partially defined) relations from X to Y as a subspace of $\mathfrak{P}_u(X \times Y)$.

Example 3.25. Any equivalence relation R on a diffeological space X is smooth with respect to the weak power set diffeology.

Proposition 3.26. Let X and Y be diffeological spaces. The set-valued map $Graph : C^{\infty}(X, \mathfrak{P}_{u}(Y)) \to \operatorname{Rel}^{\infty}(X, Y)$ taking $f \mapsto Graph(f)$ is smooth. In other words, the functional diffeology on $C^{\infty}(X, \mathfrak{P}_{u}(Y))$ is finer than the subspace diffeology on it, inherited from the union power space $\mathfrak{P}_{u}(X \times Y)$.

Proof. Assume that $P: U \to C^{\infty}(X, \mathfrak{P}_u(Y))$ is a plot with respect to the functional diffeology and let $r_0 \in U$ and $(x_0, y_0) \in Graph \circ P(r_0)$, which means $y_0 \in P(r_0)(x_0)$. For the constant plot $c_{x_0}: U \to X$ with the value x_0 , the map $ev(P, c_{x_0})$ is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$. So there is a plot $\sigma: V \to Y$, where $V \subset U$ is an open neighborhood of r_0 , such that $\sigma(r_0) = y_0$ and $\sigma(r) \in ev(P, c_{x_0})(r) = P(r)(x_0)$, for every $r \in V$. Now consider the plot $\tau = (c_{x_0}|_V, \sigma)$ in $X \times Y$ defined on V. Obviously, $\tau(r) = (x_0, \sigma(r)) \in Graph \circ P(r)$ for every $r \in V$, and that $\tau(r_0) = (x_0, \sigma(r_0)) = (x_0, y_0)$. Hence $Graph \circ P$ is a plot in $\operatorname{Rel}^{\infty}(X, Y)$ with respect to the union power set diffeology. \Box

Proposition 3.27. The maps def : $\operatorname{Rel}^{\infty}(X, Y) \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ and $\operatorname{Im} : \operatorname{Rel}^{\infty}(X, Y) \to \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$ are smooth.

Proof. Let $P: U \to \operatorname{Rel}^{\infty}(X, Y)$ be a plot and let $r_0 \in U, x_0 \in \operatorname{def} \circ P(r_0)$. Then there exists an element $y_0 \in Y$ such that $y_0 \in P(r_0)(x_0) \neq \emptyset$, or $(x_0, y_0) \in P(r_0)$. There are an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 and a plot $\sigma: V \to X \times Y$ with $\sigma(r) \in P(r)$ and $\sigma(r_0) = (x_0, y_0)$. Then $\Pr_1 \circ \sigma : V \to X$ is a plot such that $\Pr_1 \circ \sigma(r) \in \operatorname{def} \circ P(r)$ and $\Pr_1 \circ \sigma(r_0) = x_0$.

Just as the above argument, one can see that $\text{Im} : \text{Rel}^{\infty}(X, Y) \to \mathfrak{P}_{u}(Y)$ is smooth. \Box

Corollary 3.28. If $C^{\infty}(X, \mathfrak{P}_u(Y))$ is endowed with the functional diffeology, then $def : C^{\infty}(X, \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)) \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ and $Im : C^{\infty}(X, \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)) \to \mathfrak{P}_u(Y)$ are smooth.

3.5. Smooth family of plots and the union power set diffeology. We here investigate the relationship between the power set diffeology and the diffeology on plots as it is defined in [22]. For this, we first recall:

Definition 3.29. [22, §1.63] Let (X, D) be a diffeological space. The diffeological structure D itself has a natural diffeology called the **standard functional diffeology**. A parametrization $\rho: U \to D$ is a **plot** in D or a **smooth family of plots in** X if and only if for all $r_0 \in U$, for all $s_0 \in \text{dom}(\rho(r_0))$, there exist an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 and an open neighborhood W of s_0 such that $W \subset \text{dom}(\rho(r))$ for all $r \in V$, and $(r, s) \mapsto \rho(r)(s)$ defined on $V \times W$ is a plot in X.

Proposition 3.30. The map $Im : \mathcal{D} \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X), P \mapsto Im(P)$ is smooth.

Proof. Let $\rho: U \to \mathcal{D}$ be a plot in \mathcal{D} , and $r_0 \in U$, $x_0 \in \operatorname{Im}(\rho(r_0))$. Thus, there is an $s_0 \in \operatorname{dom}(\rho(r_0))$ such that $\rho(r_0)(s_0) = x_0$. By definition, there exist an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 and an open neighborhood W of s_0 such that $W \subset \operatorname{dom}(\rho(r))$ for all $r \in V$, and $(r, s) \mapsto \rho(r)(s)$ defined on $V \times W$ is a plot in X. Define $\sigma: V \to X$ by $\sigma(r) = \rho(r)(s_0) \in \operatorname{Im}(\rho(r))$, as the desired local implicit plot in X.

Let $\mathcal{D}_n(X)$ denote the set of *n*-plots in X with the subspace diffeology inherited from \mathcal{D} . Consider the set-valued map $dom : \mathcal{D}_n(X) \to \mathfrak{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ taking any *n*-plot to its domain.

Proposition 3.31. The map dom : $\mathcal{D}_n(X) \to \mathfrak{P}_u(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is smooth.

Proof. Let $\rho : U \to \mathcal{D}_n(X)$ be a smooth family of *n*-plots in *X*. Let $r_0 \in U$ and $s_0 \in \operatorname{dom} \circ \rho(r_0)$. By definition, there exist an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 and an open neighborhood *W* of s_0 such that $W \subset \operatorname{dom}(\rho(r))$ for all $r \in V$, and $(r,s) \mapsto \rho(r)(s)$ defined on $V \times W$ is a plot in *X*. Let $\sigma : V \to W$ be the constant map with the value s_0 , so that $\sigma(r) \in W \subset \operatorname{dom} \circ \rho(r)$ for all $r \in V$ and $\sigma(r_0) = s_0$.

Consider $\Gamma_n := \{(P, r) \mid P \in \mathcal{D}_n(X), r \in \operatorname{dom}(P)\}$ as a subspace of $\mathcal{D}_n(X) \times \mathbb{R}^n$.

Proposition 3.32. The map $ev : \Gamma_n \to X$ defined by ev(P, r) = P(r) is smooth.

Proof. Assume that $(\rho, F) : U \to \Gamma_n$ is a plot. That is, $\rho : U \to \mathcal{D}_n(X)$ is a smooth family of *n*-plots in X and $F : U \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is a smooth map between domains with $F(r) \in \operatorname{dom}(\rho(r))$ for all $r \in U$. Take any $r_0 \in U$, so that $F(r_0) \in \operatorname{dom}(\rho(r_0))$. By definition, there exist an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 and an open neighborhood W of $F(r_0)$ such that $W \subset \operatorname{dom}(\rho(r))$ for all $r \in V$, and $(r, s) \mapsto \rho(r)(s)$ defined on $V \times W$ is a plot in X. Set $V' := V \cap F^{-1}(W)$, which is an open neighborhood of r_0 . Thus, the parametrization $ev \circ (\rho, F)|_{V'}$ taking $r \in V'$ to $\rho(r)(F(r))$ is a plot in X. Hence $ev \circ (\rho, F)$ itself is a plot in X.

20

Proposition 3.33. Consider $\Delta = \{(P, F) \mid P \in \mathcal{D}_n(X), F \in \mathcal{D}_m(\mathbb{R}^n), \operatorname{Im}(F) \subset \operatorname{dom}(P)\}$ as a subspace of $\mathcal{D}_n(X) \times \mathcal{D}_m(\mathbb{R}^n)$. The map $\circ : \Delta \to \mathcal{D}_m(X)$ taking any combinable pair (P, F) to $P \circ F$ is smooth.

Proof. Assume that $(\rho, \nu) : U \to \Delta$ be a plot. This means that $\operatorname{Im}(\nu(r)) \subset \operatorname{dom}(\rho(r))$ for all $r \in U$. To see the parametrization $r \mapsto \rho(r) \circ \nu(r)$ on U is a smooth family of m-plots in X, let $r_0 \in U$ and $s_0 \in \operatorname{dom}(\rho(r_0) \circ \nu(r_0)) = \operatorname{dom}(\nu(r_0))$. By definition, there exist an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 and an open neighborhood W of s_0 such that $W \subset \operatorname{dom}(\nu(r))$ for all $r \in V$, and $(r, s) \mapsto \nu(r)(s)$ defined on $V \times W$ is a plot in \mathbb{R}^n . On the other hand, for $\nu(r_0)(s_0) \in \operatorname{dom}(\rho(r_0))$, there exist an open neighborhood $V' \subset V$ of r_0 and an open neighborhood W' of $\nu(r_0)(s_0)$ such that $W' \subset \operatorname{dom}(\rho(r))$ for all $r \in V'$, and $(r, s) \mapsto \rho(r)(s)$ defined on $V' \times W'$ is a plot in X. But there exists some open subsets $W'' \subset W$ and $V'' \subset V$ such that $(r, s) \mapsto \nu(r)(s)$ defined on $V'' \times W''$ is a plot in X. But there on $V'' \times W''$ is a plot in W. Since the composition map $\circ : C^{\infty}(W', X) \times C^{\infty}(W, W') \to C^{\infty}(W, X)$ is smooth by [22, §1.59], we conclude that $(r, s) \mapsto (\rho(r) \circ \nu(r))(s)$ defined on $V' \times W$ is a plot in X. □

Proposition 3.34. The map $Un : \mathfrak{P}_u(\mathcal{D}_n(X)) \to \mathcal{D}_n(\mathfrak{P}_u(X))$ taking any family of *n*-plots to its union is a surjective smooth map.

Proof. By definition 3.3, Un is surjective. Suppose that $\Pi : U \to \mathfrak{P}_u(\mathcal{D}_n(X))$ is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(\mathcal{D}_n(X))$. To prove that $Un \circ \Pi$ is a plot in $\mathcal{D}_n(\mathfrak{P}_u(X))$, let $r_0 \in U$ and $s_0 \in \operatorname{dom}(Un \circ \Pi(r_0))$. Notice that $\Pi(r_0)$ is a collection of *n*-plots in X, so one can find an *n*-plot $P_0 \in \Pi(r_0)$ such that $s_0 \in \operatorname{dom}(P_0)$. Since Π is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(\mathcal{D}_n(X))$, by definition, there exist an open neighborhood $U' \subset U$ of r_0 and a smooth family $\sigma : U' \to \mathcal{D}_n(X)$ of plots in X such that $\sigma(r) \in \Pi(r)$, for every $r \in U'$ and $\sigma(r_0) = P_0$. For $s_0 \in \operatorname{dom}(\sigma(r_0))$, there exist an open neighborhood $V \subset U'$ of r_0 and an open neighborhood W of s_0 such that $W \subset \operatorname{dom}(\sigma(r))$ for all $r \in V$, and $(r,s) \mapsto \sigma(r)(s)$ defined on $V \times W$ is a plot in X. Thus $W \subset \operatorname{dom}(\sigma(r)) \subset \operatorname{dom}(Un \circ \Pi(r))$ for all $r \in V$.

Now we show that $(r, s) \mapsto Un \circ \Pi(r)(s)$ defined on $V \times W$ is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(X)$. Let $(v_0, w_0) \in V \times W$ and $x_0 \in Un \circ \Pi(v_0)(w_0)$. This means that $w_0 \in \operatorname{dom}(Un \circ \Pi(v_0))$ and that for some *n*-plot $P_0 \in \Pi(v_0)$ we have $P_0(w_0) = x_0$. Similar to the above argument, one can find a local implicit plot $(r, s) \mapsto \sigma(r)(s)$ in X with $\sigma(r)(s) \in Un \circ \Pi(r)(s)$ and $\sigma(v_0)(w_0) = P_0(w_0) = x_0$. Therefore, $Un \circ \Pi$ is a plot in $\mathcal{D}_n(\mathfrak{P}_u(X))$.

Corollary 3.35. The supremum map $Sup : \text{Comp}(\mathfrak{P}_u(\mathcal{D}_n(X))) \to \mathcal{D}_n(X)$ taking any compatible family of n-plots to its supremum is smooth.

4. The strong power set diffeology

Hereafter, we have another diffeology on the power set, which we call the strong power set diffeology.

Definition 4.1. [22, p. 61] Let X be a diffeological space. The set of all parametrizations $P: U \to \mathfrak{P}(X)$ with the following property is a diffeology on $\mathfrak{P}(X)$, called the strong power set diffeology:

SPD. for every $r_0 \in U$ and every plot Q_0 in X with $\operatorname{Im}(Q_0) \subset P(r_0)$, there exist an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 and a local smooth family $\sigma : V \to \mathcal{D}$ of plots in X such that $\operatorname{Im}(\sigma(r)) \subset P(r)$, for every $r \in V$ and $\sigma(r_0) = Q_0$. We denote by $\mathfrak{P}_s(X)$ the power set $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ endowed with the strong power set diffeology and call it the strong power space.

The strong power set diffeology is indeed the coarsest diffeology on $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ such that the map $\delta_X : \mathfrak{P}_s(X) \to \mathfrak{P}_u(\mathcal{D})$ taking any subset $A \subset X$ to the subspace diffeology on A, i.e. $\delta_X(A) = \{P \in \mathcal{D} \mid \text{Im}(P) \subset A\}$, is smooth (see [22, Exercise 62(2)]). One can see that δ_X is an induction.

Proposition 4.2. The identity map $id : \mathfrak{P}_s(X) \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ is smooth. That is, the strong power set diffeology is finer than the union power set diffeology.

Proof. Let $P: U \to \mathfrak{P}_s(X)$ be a plot and let $r_0 \in U, x \in P(r_0)$. Consider the 0plot \mathbf{x} for which we get $\operatorname{Im}(\mathbf{x}) \subset P(r_0)$. By **SPD**, we obtain an open neighborhood $V \subset U$ of r_0 and a local smooth family $\sigma: V \to \mathcal{D}$ of plots in X such that $\operatorname{Im}(\sigma(r)) \subset P(r)$, for every $r \in V$ and $\sigma(r_0) = \mathbf{x}$. By definition, there exist an open neighborhood $V' \subset V$ of r_0 such that $\sigma(r)$ is a 0-plot for all $r \in V'$, and $r \mapsto \sigma(r)(0)$ defined on V' is a plot in X. Now define $\tau: V' \to X$ by $\tau(r) = \sigma(r)(0)$ so that $\tau(r) \in P(r)$ and $\tau(r_0) = \sigma(r_0)(0) = x$. Therefore, P satisfies **UPD** and it is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u(X)$.

Remark 4.3. By Theorem 3.7, and the fact that the identity map $id : \mathfrak{P}_s(X) \to \mathfrak{P}_u(X)$ is smooth, any smooth set-valued map $\phi : Y \to \mathfrak{P}_s(X)$ is lower semicontinuous with respect to the D-topology.

In [13], it is shown that the map $i: X \to \mathfrak{P}_s(X)$ is an embedding. Furthermore, we can say it is actually a strong embedding.

Proposition 4.4. The map $i : X \to \mathfrak{P}_s(X)$ defined by $i(x) = \{x\}$ is a strong embedding.

Proof. In view of Proposition 4.2 and Remark 4.3, the proof is quite similar to that of Proposition 3.8.

5. Projectable diffeologies on power sets

5.1. The locally projectable parametrizations on $\mathfrak{P}^{\star}(X)$. By contrast with global projectable parametrizations, we define local projectable parametrizations at a fixed $A \in \mathfrak{P}^{\star}(X)$.

Definition 5.1. Let $A \in \mathfrak{P}^{\star}(X)$ and let U be a non-empty open subset of an Euclidean space. A local projectable parametrization at A with domain U is a map $\phi : U \to \mathfrak{P}^{\star}(X)$ such that there exists a smooth map $\varphi : U \to C^{\infty}(A, X)$ such that

- $\varphi(r_0)|_A = \mathrm{id}_A$, for some $r_0 \in U$,
- $\phi(r) = \varphi(r)(A)$, for all $r \in U$.

and we define the **locally projectable diffeology** \mathcal{D}_{lp} as the diffeology generated by the family of local projectable parametrizations for each $A \in \mathfrak{P}^*(X)$.

Since $C^{\infty}(A, X)$ is equipped with the functional diffeology, the family of local projectable parametrizations has the covering property (1) and the smooth compatibility property (3) of Definition 1.1. In fact, it constitutes an example of a prediffeology (see [11, Definition 2.6]). The locally projectable parametrizations do not form a diffeology in most case. This explains the formulation for \mathcal{D}_{lp} . The power set $\mathfrak{P}(X)$, equipped with \mathcal{D}_{lp} , is denoted by $\mathfrak{P}_{lp}(X)$. **Proposition 5.2.** The identity map $id : \mathfrak{P}_{lp}^{\star}(X) \to \mathfrak{P}_{u}^{\star}(X)$ is smooth, namely, the locally projectable diffeology is finer than the union power set diffeology.

Proof. It is sufficient to prove that any local projectable parametrization is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u^*(X)$, because then the diffeology generated by the family of local projectable parametrizations would be contained in $\mathfrak{P}_u^*(X)$. Let $A \in \mathfrak{P}^*(X)$ and suppose that $\phi: U \to \mathfrak{P}^*(X)$ is a local projectable parametrization at A, $s_0 \in U$, and $x_0 \in \phi(s_0)$. By definition, there exists a smooth map $\varphi: U \to C^\infty(A, X)$ such that $\phi(r) = \varphi(r)(A)$ for all $r \in U$. In particular, $x_0 \in \phi(s_0) = \varphi(s_0)(A)$, so there exists an element $a \in A$ with $\varphi(s_0)(a) = x_0$. Define $\sigma: U \to X$ by $\sigma(r) = \varphi(r)(a)$, which is smooth. Moreover, $\sigma(r) = \varphi(r)(a) \in \varphi(r)(A) = \phi(r)$. And, $\sigma(s_0) = \varphi(s_0)(a) = x_0$. Thus, $\phi: U \to \mathfrak{P}^*(X)$ is a plot in $\mathfrak{P}_u^*(X)$.

Analogous to the case of the strong power set diffeology, one can observe that every smooth set-valued map $\phi: Y \to \mathfrak{P}_{lp}(X)$ is lower semi-continuous with respect to the D-topology. Also, the map $\iota: X \to \mathfrak{P}_{lp}(X)$ defined by $\iota(x) = \{x\}$ is a strong embedding.

5.2. The globally projectable parametrizations on $\mathfrak{P}(X)$. The monoid of smooth maps $C^{\infty}(X, X)$ equipped with the composition rule has a natural action on the left on $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ by

(2)
$$L: C^{\infty}(X, X) \times \mathfrak{P}(X) \to \mathfrak{P}(X) \\ (f, A) \mapsto f(A)$$

We note by L_D the restriction of L to Diff(X).

the union power set or the strong power set diffeology.

Proposition 5.3. *L* is smooth when

- $C^{\infty}(X, X)$ is equipped with the functional diffeology,
- $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ is equipped with either the weak power set diffeology, or the strong power set diffeology.

Proof. Each case follows from the definition of the functional diffeology.

Proposition 5.4. L_D is smooth when $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ is equipped with the weak power set,

Proof. Each case follows from the definition of the functional diffeology.

Remark 5.5 $(C^{\infty}(X, X) \text{ or Diff}(X)?)$. When X is a smooth compact manifold, Diff(X) is an open subset of $C^{\infty}(X, X)$ for its classical structure of Fréchet manifold, and hence in particular for the D-topology of the functional diffeology. Therefore one can wonder whether, in the definitions, the choice of the use of the **group** Diff(X) would be more accurate than the use of the **monoid** $C^{\infty}(X, X)$. Analyzing, e.g., [37, 39] where projectable symmetries are highlighted, the choice of Diff(X) may be justified by the definition of symmetries for functions on diffeologies, along the lines of [30]. However, (diffeologically) projectable transformations must be generated by (smooth) transformations on X, and the best space for this purpose is $C^{\infty}(X, X)$ in which Diff(X) is not an open subset. Therefore, out of precise technical statements comparing these two sets, we feel the necessity to consider the biggest one. However, this third projectable-type maps define a diffeology on power sets which has stronger properties than others. **Definition 5.6.** We define globally projectable parametrizations of $\mathfrak{P}^*(X)$ the push-forward parametrization ϕ such that there exists locally a smooth map $P: U \to C^{\infty}(X, X)$ and $A \in \mathfrak{P}^*(X)$ such that the restriction of ϕ to the domain U can be defined by $P(\cdot)(A)$. These parametrizations define a diffeology that we denote by \mathcal{D}_{gp} . The same definitions hold changing $C^{\infty}(X, X)$ into Diff(X), and we denote this second diffeology by $\mathcal{D}_{gp,D}$.

Remark 5.7. When X is a compact finite dimensional manifold, a consequence of Nash-Moser inverse functions theorem is that Diff(X) is open in $C^{\infty}(X, X)$. However, even when $X = S^1 = \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$, $\mathcal{D}_{gp} \neq \mathcal{D}_{gp,D}$. Indeed, consider the 1-plot

$$t \in (-0.25, 0.25) \mapsto [-2|t|, 2|t|]$$

Then its value at t = 0 shows that this is not the orbit of a diffeomorphism while this is possible to find a smooth map $\varphi : (-0.25, 0.25) \times S^1 \to S^1$, and hence a map $\Phi : (-0.25, 0.25) \to C^{\infty}(S^1, S^1)$ defined by $\phi(t) = (x \mapsto \varphi(t, x))$ which globally parametrize this plot.

Theorem 5.8. In $\mathcal{D}_{qp,D}$, $\overline{(.)}$ is smooth, and \emptyset as well as X are isolated.

Proof. The proof follows from the fact that for any $g \in \text{Diff}(X)$, and for any $A \in \mathfrak{P}(X), \overline{g(A)} = g(\overline{A}).$

Remark 5.9. \cup and \cap are not smooth in $\mathcal{D}_{gp,D}$. Let us give a counter-example. Let $X = \mathbb{R}$, let $A = B = \{0\}$ and let $g_1(t) : x \mapsto x + t$, $g_2(t) : x \mapsto x - t$. Let $P_1(t) = g_1(t)(A)$ and let $P_2(t) = g_2(t)(A)$. We have that $(P_1, P_2) \in \mathcal{D}_{gp,D}$ but

$$P_1(t) \cap P_2(t) = \begin{cases} \emptyset & \text{if } t \neq 0\\ \{0\} & \text{if } t = 0 \end{cases}$$

Since \emptyset is isolated in $\mathcal{D}_{gp,D}$, $t \mapsto P_1(t) \cap P_2(t) \notin \mathcal{D}_{gp,D}$. The same arguments hold for $t \mapsto \overline{P_1(t)} \cup \overline{P_2(t)} \notin \mathcal{D}_{qp,D}$.

6. DIFFEOLOGIES ON BOREL ALGEBRAS AND MEASURES

6.1. Boolean diffeologies on a Boolean algebra. Let $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathfrak{P}(X)$ be a Boolean algebra. We denote by $\mathcal{A}^* = \mathcal{A} - \{\emptyset\}$.

Definition 6.1. Let \mathcal{D} be a diffeology on \mathcal{A}^* . Then

- (1) \mathcal{D} is \cup -stable if the map $\cup : (\mathcal{A}^{\star})^2 \to \mathcal{A}^{\star}$ is smooth
- (2) \mathcal{D} is complement-stable if the map $\overline{(.)}$: $(\mathcal{A}^* \{X\}) \to \mathcal{A}^*(X) \{X\}$ is smooth.
- (3) \mathcal{D} is boolean if (1) and (2) are fulfilled.

With such a definition, a superficial reader may think that, as a direct consequence, all boolean operations such as intersection, symmetric difference are smooth if the diffeology is boolean. We here have to care about \emptyset which is not in the basic target space $\mathfrak{P}^{\star}(X)$ of our plots. Again, we make this distinction because of our examples produced in next section, on which we may just say naively that \emptyset is disconnected (diffeologically) from $\mathfrak{P}^{\star}(X)$. Let us consider the following example, which will fit with all our next diffeologies, and which will explain in few words that this choice is not suitable with the classical intuition.

Example 6.2. Let $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and let $c(t) = [t - 1, t + 1] \in \mathfrak{P}^*(\mathbb{R})$ be a "traveling interval" path. Let $\gamma(t) = c(t) \cap c(-t)$. Then $\gamma(t) = \emptyset$ if $t \notin [-1, 1]$.

Therefore, we have to produce diffeologies such that $\{\emptyset\}$ is not necessarily a disconnected component of $\mathfrak{P}(X)$.

Theorem 6.3. Let \mathcal{D} be a boolean diffeology on \mathcal{A}^* . Then $\mathcal{D} \cup \overline{\mathcal{D}}$ generates local plots of a diffeology \mathcal{D}^b on \mathcal{A} for which boolean operations are smooth. We also call this diffeology a boolean diffeology (on \mathcal{A}).

Proof. Let us first describe the plots at X. These are the maps $P: U \to \mathcal{A}^*$, where U is an open subset of an Euclidean space, for which there exists an open cover $\{U_i, i \in I\}$ of U and a family of plots $\{\phi_i, \varphi_i, i \in I\}$ such that:

- $\forall i \in I, \operatorname{dom}(\phi_i) = \operatorname{dom}(\varphi_i) = U_i$
- $\forall i \in I, P|_{U_i} = \phi_i \cup \varphi_i.$

Since \mathcal{D} is boolean, then $\overline{(.)} \circ \phi_i$ and $\overline{(.)} \circ \phi_i$ are in $\overline{\mathcal{D}}$, which shows that $\overline{(.)} \circ P$ defines a parametrization at $\{\emptyset\}$ such that, if $W = (\overline{(.)} \circ P)^{-1}(\mathfrak{P}^*(X))$, W is open in Uand $(\overline{(.)} \circ P)|_W \in \mathcal{D}$. Therefore, \mathcal{D} is the subset diffeology on \mathcal{A}^* of the diffeology generated by $\mathcal{D} \cup \overline{\mathcal{D}}$ on \mathcal{A}^* . Moreover, it is clear that this diffeology \mathcal{D}^b is now stable under \cup and $\overline{(.)}$, and that these operations are smooth. Therefore, the other two classical operations, the intersection \cap and the symmetric difference Δ are also smooth.

Therefore, for any Boolean diffeology on \mathcal{A}^* in the sense of Definition 6.1 we are able to build up a diffeology on \mathcal{A} such that:

- the Boolean operations $\cup, \cap, \overline{(.)}$ and Δ are smooth,
- this diffeology coincides with the initial diffeology on $\mathfrak{P}^{\star}(X) \{X\}$
- $\{\emptyset\}$ is not a priori a disconnected component.

We call it **Boolean diffeology** on \mathcal{A} , vocabulary that also applies to the maximal Boolean subalgebra $\mathfrak{P}(X)$. This construction will be discussed more extensively in section 6.2 but in a more general way, one has to know whether such a Boolean diffeology exists, because our construction starts from a Boolean diffeology on $\mathfrak{P}^*(X)$, which is assume to be at hand.

For this, let us consider not only $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ but also any boolean algebra $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathfrak{P}(X)$.

Lemma 6.4. Let \mathcal{A} be a Boolean algebra on X. The indiscrete diffeology, that is, the diffeology defined by all maps

$$U \to \mathcal{A},$$

where U is an open subset of an Euclidean space, is a Boolean algebra.

The proof is direct. Therefore, one can wish to "complete" a diffeology to a Boolean diffeology.

Theorem 6.5. Let \mathcal{A} be a Boolean algebra equipped with a diffeology \mathcal{D} . Then, there exists a unique Boolean diffeology, minimal for inclusion, which contains \mathcal{D} .

Proof. Let $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{D})$ be the set of Boolean diffeologies that contain \mathcal{D} . $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{D}) \neq \emptyset$ by Lemma 6.4. Moreover, if a map $f : X \times X \to X$ is smooth for two different diffeologies \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 on X, then it is smooth for $\mathcal{D}_1 \cap \mathcal{D}_2$, then $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{D})$ is stable for intersection. Therefore, for the partial order \subset on $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{D})$, applying Zorn's Lemma, we get that $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{D})$ has a unique minimal element for \subset .

Hence, we can state:

Lemma 6.6. There exists a minimal Boolean diffeology on $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ that contains $\mathcal{D}_{qp,D}$.

A more "concrete" example of a Boolean diffeology on a Boolean algebra, which is not the minimal one, will be given in section 6.2.

6.2. Diffeologies on a Borel algebra. Let us consider a topology τ on the diffeological space (X, \mathcal{D}_X) such that any plot $P \in \mathcal{D}_X$ is continuous with respect to τ , and let $\mathcal{B}(\tau)$ its associated σ -algebra. Let $\mathcal{B}^*(\tau) = \mathcal{B}(\tau) - \{\emptyset\}$. Then, for each diffeology $\mathcal{D}_{\mathfrak{P}}$ on $\mathfrak{P}(X)$ (resp. $\mathfrak{P}^*(X)$), $\mathcal{B}(\tau)$ (resp. $\mathcal{B}^*(\tau)$) can be equipped with the subset diffeology, as well as $\mathcal{B}^*(\tau) - \{X\}$. Since this carries no ambiguity in this section, we note them all by $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{B}}$.

Definition 6.7. • Let μ be a finite Borel measure on X. Then μ is called **smooth** if it is a smooth map for the diffeology $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{B}}$.

• Let μ be a Borel measure on X. Then μ is smooth if

$$\forall A \in \mathcal{B}(\tau), \quad 0 < \mu(A) < +\infty \implies \mu_A = \mu(\cdot \cap A) \text{ is smooth.}$$

Theorem 6.8. Let τ be a topology on a diffeological space (X, \mathcal{D}_X) such that any plot $P \in \mathcal{D}_X$ is continuous with respect to τ . Let $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{B}}$ be \cup -stable diffeology on $\mathcal{B}(\tau)$. Let $Mes(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{B}})$ be the space of smooth measures with respect to $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{B}^*}$. Then, if $Mes(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{B}}) \neq \emptyset$,

(1) $\forall \mu \in Mes(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{B}}), the maps$

$$(A, B) \in \mathcal{B}^{\star}(\tau)^2 \mapsto \mu(A \cup B),$$
$$A \in \mathcal{B}^{\star}(\tau) - \{X\} \mapsto \mu(\overline{A})$$

 $are\ smooth.$

- (2) Therefore, $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{B}}$ generates a Boolean diffeology on $\mathcal{B}(\tau)$ following the procedure from section 6.1, and
- (3) The set of finite smooth measures for $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{B}}$ is a generating family for a boolean Frölicher structure, i.e. a boolean reflexive diffeology, on $\mathcal{B}(\tau)$.

Proof. If $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{B}}$ is \cup -stable, $\forall (P_1, P_2) \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{B}}$, if $P_1 : U_1 \to \mathcal{D}_B$, if $P_2 : U_2 \to \mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{B}}$,

- $P_1 \cup P_2 : U_1 \times U_2 \to \mathcal{B} \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{B}}$ and hence, following Definition 6.7, $\forall A \in \mathcal{B}(\tau)$, such that $0 < \mu(A) < +\infty$, then $\mu_A \circ (P_1 \cup P_2)$ is smooth.
- The same way, $\mu_A \circ \overline{(.)} \circ P_1 = \mu(A) \mu_A \circ P_1$ is smooth. and this relation extends to the induced Boolean diffeology on $\mathcal{B}(\tau)$.
- Since μ is a measure, with the obvious notations, $\mu_A \circ (P_1 \cap P_2) = \mu_A \circ P_1 + \mu_A \circ P_2 \mu_A \circ (P_1 \cup P_2)$ is smooth and hence we can prove smoothness of Δ by considering $\mu_A \circ (P_1 \Delta P_2) = \mu_A \circ (P_1 \cup P_2) \mu_A \circ (P_1 \cap P_2)$ which shows that Δ is smooth.

Thus, $Mes(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{B}})$ will serve as a generating set of functions for a Frölicher structure on $\mathcal{B}(\tau)$ for which each Boolean operation is smooth.

Hence, we have constructed two other diffeologies from a given \cup -stable one on $\mathcal{B}(\tau)^*$: a Boolean diffeology on $\mathcal{B}(\tau)$ and its reflexive completion. Let us now turn to a practical example.

Remark 6.9. Let M be a non-compact, smooth Riemannian manifold equipped with its Riemannian measure λ and let \mathcal{B} be its (classical) Borel algebra. Let $C_c^{\infty}(M)$ be the set of smooth, real-valued and compactly supported functions on M. Then the evaluation maps

$$ev_f: A \in \mathcal{B} \mapsto \int_B f d\lambda,$$

for $f \in C_c^{\infty}(M)$, define a Frölicher structure on \mathcal{B} . This Frölicher structure is not \cup -stable. Indeed, consider $M = \mathbb{R}$, $P_1(t) = (-\infty, t + 0.5)$ and $P_2(t) = (-t + 0.5, +\infty)$, and a test function f which is a mollifier at 0 with support [-1, 1], then it is easy to check that

• if
$$t > 0$$
, $ev_f(P_1(t) \cup P_2(t)) = ev_f(\mathbb{R}) = 1$

•

$$\lim_{t \to 0^{-}} \frac{ev_f(t) - ev_f(0)}{t} = f(0,5) \neq 0,$$

which shows that the \cup -operation is not smooth. Therefore, it can be completed to $a \cup$ -stable diffeology, from which we can define a Boolean Frölicher structure on $\mathcal{B}(\tau)$, but evaluations via smooth maps in $C_c^{\infty}(M)$ will no longer all be smooth with respect with this new diffeology.

In a second approach, consider all the \cup -stable diffeologies on $\mathcal{B}^{\star}(\tau)$ such that the maps

$$\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*, (A_1, \dots A_n) \in \mathcal{B}^*(\tau)^n \mapsto \int_{\bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{N}_n} A_i} f d\lambda$$

are smooth. We know that the discrete diffeology on $\mathcal{B}^*(\tau)$ fulfills this condition, but we actually have no result to prove the existence of a maximal \cup -stable diffeology that makes these maps smooth.

Therefore, in order to get a "reasonable" diffeology, one has to adapt the setting, see section 6.4

6.3. Hadamard and Fomin differentiability on a vector space: the diffeological viewpoint. Let us now assume that X is a diffeological vector space, equipped with a topology τ and associated Borel algebra $\mathcal{B}(\tau)$ as before. We now examine differentiation of measures with respect to a non zero vector $v \in X$. Let $\langle v \rangle$ be the vector space spanned by v, which we identify with its one-parameter Diff(X)-subgroup of transformation. We mimic the construction of the globally projectable diffeology $\mathcal{D}_{gp,D}$ by replacing the group of diffeomorphisms Diff(X) by $\langle v \rangle$.

Theorem 6.10. The family

$$\mathcal{D}_{v} = \{A + (f \circ P)v \,|\, (A, P, f) \in \mathfrak{P}(X) \times \mathcal{D}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}) \times C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})\}$$

form a diffeology on $\mathfrak{P}(X)$

- which is complement-stable
- for which \emptyset and X are isolated.

Definition 6.11. Let $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathfrak{P}^*(X)$ be a space of sets stable under the $\langle v \rangle$ – action on $\mathfrak{P}^*(X)$. Let V be a complete locally convex topological vector space. The functional $\Phi : \mathcal{A} \to V$

• is v-smooth if Φ is diffeologically smooth, when V is equipped with its nebulae diffeology and when \mathcal{A} is equipped with its subset diffeology induced by \mathcal{D}_v .

• is v-differentiable at $A \in \mathcal{A}$ if

$$D_{A,v}\Phi = \lim_{t \to 0^+} \frac{\Phi(A+tv) - \Phi(A)}{t}$$

exists in V.

The second item of this definition is a specialization of Definition 7.1 for the path c(t) = A + tv, which is smooth in \mathcal{D}_v as well as in all the diffeologies defined in section ??.

Example 6.12. A finite Borel measure μ on X is Fomin-differentiable in the direction v if and only if for each Borel set A,

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\mu(A + tv) - \mu(A)}{t}$$

exists (see, e.g., [5]). Then this relation fits the fact that

$$\forall A, \quad D_{A,v}\Phi = -D_{a,-v}\Phi,$$

and if the measure μ is infinitely differentiable in the sense of Fomin, then it is easy to see that the measure μ is v-smooth in our terminology, setting A as the Borel algebra.

We can extend this last example in the following way. Let \mathcal{D} be a diffeology on a Borel algebra \mathcal{A} on a set X.

Definition 6.13. Let $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$. We denote by $\mathbb{M}^k_{\mathcal{D}}(X)$ the space of measures μ on \mathcal{A} that are k-differentiable maps from $\mathcal{A} - \{\emptyset, X\}$ to \mathbb{R}_+ .

6.4. Diffeology on spaces of measures. Let us now consider $\mathbb{M}_+(X)$ the space of $(\sigma-\text{finite})$ measures on a diffeological space X equipped with a topology τ and its associated Borel algebra $\mathcal{B}(\tau)$ as before. In the test space

$$\{ev_A: \mu \in \mathbb{M}_+(X) \mapsto \mu(A) \mid A \in \mathcal{A}\}$$

the mappings ev_A are with values in $\mathbb{R}_+ \cup \{+\infty\}$. Moreover, on \mathbb{R}_+ , all smooth paths γ passing through 0 have a vanishing Taylor development on $\gamma^{-1}(0)$. Therefore, in order to avoid the same problems as in Remark 6.9 we change the considered diffeology on each interval \mathbb{R}_+ for another diffeology which is the following:

Definition 6.14. The **piecewise smooth diffeology** on \mathbb{R} is defined by the set of piecewise smooth parametrizations of \mathbb{R} . We note this diffeology by $\mathcal{D}_p(\mathbb{R})$. With the same notations, we also define $\mathcal{D}_p(I)$ where I is a closed bounded interval.

Moreover, we define the **piecewise smooth diffeology** on $\mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ by

$$\mathcal{D}_p(\mathbb{R}_+ \cup \{+\infty\}) = argth^* \left(\mathcal{D}_p([0,1]) \right).$$

Definition 6.15. We define

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{M}_+(X)) = \bigcap_{A \in \mathcal{A}} ev_A^* \left(\mathcal{D}_p(\mathbb{R}_+ \cup \{+\infty\}) \right).$$

This diffeology is difficult to study, but we can remark the following:

Remark 6.16. Following Remark 6.9 and considering the two paths P_1 and P_2 , $P_1 \cup P_2 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{M}_+(X))$ and $\mathcal{D}_1 \cap \mathcal{D}_2 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{M}_+(X))$ are smooth.

28

7. Set-valued differentials

The concept of smoothness in diffeology does not imply most classical properties of **derivatives**, which highly depend on the underlying diffeology. Indeed, only the **differential** of a smooth function, in the sense of differential forms, is actually well-established and commonly used. Let us give highlights of the problem of the derivative in diffeology through a generalization of set-valued derivatives.

We fix (X, \mathcal{D}) a diffeological space an a functional

$$\Phi:X\to V$$

where V is a complete locally convex vector space. The functional Φ is not a priori assumed to be smooth.

Definition 7.1. Let $x \in X$ and let $c \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, X)$ such that c(0) = x. Then the functional Φ is c-differentiable at x if the limit

$$D_{x,c}\Phi = \lim_{t \to 0^+} \frac{\Phi(c(t)) - \Phi(x)}{t}$$

exists in V.

Classical examples show that the definition of the differentiability with respect to a path c does not only depend on the germ of the path c at x.

Example 7.2. Let $X = \mathbb{R}^2$ equipped with its usual diffeology. Let

$$\Phi(x,y) = \begin{cases} \frac{xy}{|y|} & \text{if } y \neq 0\\ 0 & \text{if } y = 0 \end{cases}$$

Let $c_{\alpha} : t \in \mathbb{R} \mapsto c_{\alpha}(t) = (t, \alpha t^2)$ for $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. All paths c_{α} have the same germ at t = 0 but $D_{0,c_{\alpha}} \Phi \in \{-1,0,1\}$ depending on the value of α .

Hence, we define a set-valued version of Hadamard differentiation. We note by germ(c) the germ of a path c.

Definition 7.3. Let $u \in {}^{i}T_{x}X$. Then Φ is differentiable at x in the direction v if $\forall c \in C_{x}$ such that $v = germ(c), \Phi$ is c-differentiable at x and we define

$$D_u \Phi(x) = \bigcup_{germ(c)=u} Adh \Big(n \big(\Phi(c(1/n)) - \Phi(c(0)) \big) \Big),$$

where Adh means the adherence set of the sequence, when $n \to +\infty$.

In this definition, the derivative is a set-valued map and Φ is differentiable in the classical sense if $D_u \Phi$ has an unique value in V. This matches with our classical definition of the derivative of a differentiable function on a smooth manifold. However, for example, on an open subset U of \mathbb{R}^2 we have to mention that

- for the nebulae diffeology $\mathcal{D}_{\infty}(U)$, the space of germs at any point is twodimensional, and coincides with the classical tangent space.
- for the spaghetti diffeology $\mathcal{D}_1(U)$, the tangent space at any point is of uncountable dimension [9].

In Example 7.2, the family $\{c_{\alpha}; \alpha \in \mathbb{R}\}$ has only one germ at t = 0, which confirms that

$$D_{(1,0)}\Phi(0) \subset \{-1,0,1\}$$

for $\mathcal{D}_{\infty}(U)$ but for $\mathcal{D}_1(U)$, the same notation $D_{(1,0)}\Phi(0)$ only considers the path $c_0(t)$ and its reparametrizations and therefore

$$D_{(1,0)}\Phi(0) = \{0\}.$$

8. Diffeologies and shapes

For a detailed introduction into shape calculus we refer to [12, 41]. Let E be a set.

Definition 8.1. Let $d \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $D \in \mathfrak{P}^*(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

- A shape space is a set $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathfrak{P}^{\star}(D)$,
- A shape functional is a function J : A → R and an underconstrained shape optimization problem is given by

$$\min_{\Omega \in \mathcal{A}} J(\Omega)$$

• A constrained shape optimization problem involves a shape functional $J : \mathcal{A} \times Y \to \mathbb{R}$, where Y is a space of state variables, usually a function space of solutions satisfying a system of PDEs, depending on $\Omega \in \mathcal{A}$, and is given by

$$\min_{(\Omega,y)\in\mathcal{A}\times Y}J(\Omega,y).$$

In order to minimize a functional Φ , initial steps of some classical methods can rely on:

• solving
$$D\Phi(x) = 0$$
,

• or defining a gradient $\nabla \Phi$.

In both cases, differentiability is the most powerful tool to deal with minimization procedures. In order to differentiate a shape functional J on a shape space \mathcal{A} , we need to define admissible paths defined as follows: let F_t be a map $\mathbb{R} \to C^0(D, \mathbb{R}^d)$, with $F_0 = \mathrm{id}_D$ and with a priori no assumption on regularity of the 1-parameter family $\{F_t\}_{t \in \mathbb{R}}$. Then, such a map defines a **flow**

$$(\Omega, t) \mapsto \Omega_t = F_t(\Omega)$$

for $\Omega \in \mathcal{A}$. In classical practice of shape analysis, the family F_t is defined through a suitable vector field $x \in \mathbb{R}^d \mapsto V(x)$ by

$$F_t(x) = x + tV(x).$$

Definition 8.2. The Eulerian derivative of the shape functional J at Ω in the direction V is defined by

$$D_V J(\Omega) = \lim_{t \to 0^+} \frac{J(\Omega_t) - J(\Omega)}{t}$$

Therefore, according the Eulerian derivative reads as

$$D_V J(\Omega) = D_{\Omega,v} J$$

with $v(t) = \bigcup_{x \in \Omega} \{x + tv(x)\}$. The map $t \mapsto (x \mapsto x + tV(x))$ defines a smooth path on $C^{\infty}(X, X)$ and hence $v \in \mathcal{D}_{gp}$.

References

- Ahmadi, A.; Submersions, immersions, and étale maps in diffeology, Preprint arXiv:2203.05994
- [2] Ahmadi, A.; Dehghan Nezhad, A.; Davvaz, B.; Hypergroups and polygroups in diffeology, Comm. Algebra 48 no6 2683-2698 (2020)
- [3] Baez, J.; Hoffnung, A.; Convenient categories of smooth spaces, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 363, 5789-5825 (2011)
- [4] Bauer, C.; Harms, P.; Michor, P.W.; Sobolev metrics on shape space of surfaces J. Geom. Mech. 3 no4, 389-438 (2011)
- [5] Bogachev, V. I.; Differentiable measures and the Malliavin calculus, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs 154, AMS (2010)
- [6] Borisovich, Yu. G.; Gel'man, B. D.; Myshkis, A. D.; Obukhovskii, V. V.; Multivalued mappings, Journal of Soviet Mathematics 24 (1984) 719791 https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01305758
- [7] Bourbaki, N.; Eléments de mathématiques, Masson, Paris (1981)
 [8] Christensen, J.D.; Wu, E.; Tangent spaces and tangent bundles for diffeological spaces,
- Cahiers de Topologie et Géométrie Différentielle, **IVII**, 3-50 (2016)
- Christensen, J.D.; Wu, E.; Exterior bundles in diffeology, Israel J. Math. (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11856-022-2372-9
- [10] Cootes; T.F.; Taylor, C.J.; Cooper, D.H.; Graham, J.; Active shape models-their training and applications, *Comput. Vis. Image Underst.* 61 no1, 38-59 (1995)
- [11] Dehghan Nezhad, A.; Ahmadi, A.; A novel approach to sheaves on diffeological spaces, *Topology Appl.* 263, 141-153 (2019)
- [12] Delfour, M.C.; Zolésio, J-P.; Shapes and geometries: Metrics, Analysis, Differential Calculus, and optimization, Advances in design and control SIAM 22 second edition (2001).
- [13] Donato, P., Iglesias-Zemmour, P.; Embedding a diffeological space into its powerset, Available at http://math.huji.ac.il/~piz/documents/DBlog-Rmk-DOTS.pdf
- [14] Droske, M.; Rumpf, M.; Multiscale joint segmentation and registration of image morphology, IEEE Trans. Pettern Anal. Mach. Intell. 29 no12, 2189-2194 (2007)
- [15] Frölicher, A; Kriegl, A; Linear spaces and differentiation theory, Wiley series in Pure and Applied Mathematics, Wiley Interscience (1988)
- [16] Fuchs, M.; Jürder, B.; Scherzer, O.; Yang, H.; Shape metrics on elastic deformations, J. Math. Imaging Vision 35 no1, 86–102 (2009)
- [17] Gangl, P.; Laurain, A.; Meftahi, H.; Strum, K.; Shape optimization of an electric motor subject to nonlinear magnetostatics, SIAM J. Sci. Comput. 35 no6, B1002–B1025 (2015)
- [18] Goldammer, N.; Magnot, J-P.; Welker, K.; On diffeologies from infinite dimensional geometry to PDE constrained optimization. Preprint arXiv:2302.07838
- [19] Goldammer, N.; Welker, K.; Towards optimization techniques on diffeological spaces by generalizing Riemannian concepts. Preprint. arXiv:2009.04262
- [20] Hintermüller, M.; Laurain, L.; Optimal shape design subject to elliptic variational inequalities, SIAM J. Control. Optim. 49 no3, 1015–1047 (2011)
- [21] Hintermüller, M.; Ring, W.; A second order shape optimization approach for image segmentation, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 63 no2, 442–467 (2004)
- [22] Iglesias-Zemmour, P. Diffeology, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs 185 AMS (2013)
- [23] Kendall, D.G.; Shape manifolds, procrustean metrics, and complex projective spaces, Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 16 no2, 81-121 (1984)
- [24] Kilian, M.; Mitra, N.J.; Pottmann, H.; Geometric Modelling in shape space, ACM Trans. Gr. 26 no64, 1–8 (2007)
- [25] Kriegl, A.; Michor, P.W.; The convenient setting for global analysis, Math. surveys and monographs 53, American Mathematical society, Providence, USA. (2000)
- [26] Leslie, J. On a diffeological group realization of certain generalized symmetrizable kac-moody lie algebras, J. Lie Theory 13 427-442 (2003)
- [27] Ling, H.; Jacobs, D.W.; Shape classification using the inner distance, *IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell.* 29 no2, 286-299 (2007)
- [28] Magnot, J-P.; Difféologie sur le fibré d'holonomie d'une connexion en dimension infinie, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci., Soc. R. Can. 28, no. 4, 121–127 (2006)

- [29] Magnot, J-P.; Ambrose-Singer theorem on diffeological bundles and complete integrability of the KP equation, Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys. 10, No. 9, Article ID 1350043, 31 p. (2013)
- [30] Magnot, J-P.; On the differential geometry of numerical schemes and weak solutions of functional equations, *Nonlinearity* 33 No. 12, 6835-6867 (2020)
- [31] Marsden, J.E.; Hugues, T.T.H. Mathematical foundations of elasticity, Dover (1993)
- [32] Michael, E.; Continuous Selections. I, Annals of mathematics, Second Series, 63 no2, 361-382 (1956)
- [33] Michor, P.; Mumford, D.; Vanishing geodesic distance on spaces of submanifolds, *Doc. Math.* 10 217-245 (2005)
- [34] Michor, P.; Mumford, D.;An overview of Riemannian metrics on spaces of curves using the Hamiltonian approach, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 23 no1, 74-113 (2007)
- [35] Mio, W.; Srivastava, A.; Joshi, S.; On shape of plane elastic curves, Int. J. Comput. Vis. 73 no3, 307-324 (2007)
- [36] Nagel, A.; Schultz, V.H.; Seibenborn, M.; Wittum, G.; Scalable shape optimization methods for structured inverse modelling in 3D diffusive processes, *Comptut. Vis. Sci.* 17 no2, 79-88 (2015)
- [37] Olver, P.J.; Applications of Lie groups to differential equations, (2nd edition) GTM 107, Springer (1993)
- [38] Paganini, A.; Approximative shape gradients for interface problems, In: Pirelli, A., Leugering, G. (eds.)New trends in shape optimization *International series of numerical Mathematics* 266 217-227, Springer, New-York (2015)
- [39] Robart, T.; Sur l'intégrabilité des sous-algèbres de Lie en dimension infinie, Can. J. Math. 49 (4) 820-839 (1997)
- [40] Schmidt, S.; Ilicx, C.; Schultz, V.H.; Gauger, N.R.; Three-dimensional large-scale aerodynamic shape optimization based on shape calculus, AIAA J. 51 no 11, 2615-2627 (2013)
- [41] Sokolowski, J.; Zolésio, J-P.; Introduction to shape optimization, Computational mathematics 16 Springer, New-York (1992)
- [42] Souriau, J.M.; Un algorithme générateur de structures quantiques, Astérisque, Hors Série, 341-399 (1985)
- [43] Stefani, G., Zecca, P.; Properties of convex sets with application to differential theory of multivalued functions, *Nonlinear Anal.* 2 No. 5, 583-595 (1978)
- [44] Stacey, A., Comparative smootheology, Theory Appl. Categ. 25(4) (2011) 64-117.
- [45] Watts, J.; Diffeologies, differentiable spaces and symplectic geometry, PhD thesis, university of Toronto (2012) arXiv:1208.3634
- [46] Welker, K.; Suitable spaces for shape optimization, Appl. Math. Optim. 84. Suppl 1 869-902 (2021)
- [47] Wirth, B.; Bar, L.; Rumpf, M.; Sapiro, G.; A continuum mechanical approach to geodesics in shape space, Int. J. Comput. Vision 93 no3, 293–318 (2011)
- [48] Wirth, B.; Rumpf, M.; A nonlinear elasticshape averaging approach, Siam J. Imagnog Sci. 2 no3 800-833 (2009)
- [49] Zolésio, J-P.; Control of moving domains, shape optimization and variational tube transformations, Int. Ser. Numer. Math. 155 329-382 (2007)

ALIREZA AHMADI, DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, YAZD UNIVERSITY, 89195-741, YAZD, IRAN *E-mail address*: ahmadi@stu.yazd.ac.ir, alirezaahmadi13@yahoo.com

JEAN-PIERRE MAGNOT, CNRS, LAREMA, SFR MATHSTIC, F-49000 ANGERS, FRANCE, AND, LYCÉE JEANNE D'ARC, AVENUE DE GRANDE BRETAGNE, 63000 CLERMONT-FERRAND, FRANCE *E-mail address*: jean-pierr.magnot@ac-clermont.fr